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REFERENCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS 

 
About Us Irish Wheelchair Association (IWA) is Ireland’s leading 

representative organisation and service provider for people 
with physical disabilities. 
We advocate for the needs of people with physical disabilities 
and provide services and support to over 20,000 members in 
their homes and communities throughout Ireland every year. 
Everything we do is driven by IWA’s vision of an Ireland where 
people with disabilities can enjoy equal rights, choices and 
opportunities and live their lives independently. 

 
Legal Structure I.W.A.  Company Limited By Guarantee operates under  the 

registered business name of Irish Wheelchair Association. 
 
 

Company Number 352483 
Charity Number CHY 5393 
Charity Regulatory Authority Number CRA 20007997 

 
 
 

Board of Directors Members of the Board of Directors who served during the 
financial year and up to the date of approval of the Annual 
Financial Statements on 07 April 2022 are as  follows: 

 
President: Vacant  

Chairperson: Martin Kelly 
Vice Chairperson: Laura MacDermott 

Honorary Secretary: Donal Sands 
Honorary Treasurer: John Olden 

Board Members: Linda Ahern  
 David Barry Appointed 22 May 2021 

 Kathleen Brady  
 Michelle Byrne  
 Carmel Creaven Appointed 22 May 2021 
 Katharine Deas Retired 7 May 2021 
 Tom Doherty  
 Breda Dwyer Retired 21 May 2021 
 Declan Hamilton Retired 21 May 2021 
 Padraic Hayes  
 Michael Hickey Retired 21 May 2021 
 Dermot Murphy  
 Iqura Naseem Appointed 22 May 2021 
 Jonathan O’Grady Appointed 22 May 2021 
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Registered Office: Áras Chúchulainn, Blackheath Drive, Clontarf, Dublin 3 

 
 

Patron: Michael D. Higgins, President of Ireland 
 
 

Chief Executive Officer: Rosemary Keogh 
 
 

Senior Management Team: 
 
 

Mildred Carroll National Director for Community Supports  
Tony Cunningham National Director for IWA Funded Services 
Michael Doyle National Director for Assisted Living Services 
Nicky Hamill Director of Sports 
Chris Hoey Chief Operations Officer 
Mary Jo Leatham Director of ICT 
Jonathan McShane   Chief Financial Officer & Director of Corporate Services 
Gerry Phelan Director of People and Development 
Aidan Stacey Commercial Development Director 
   

 
Company Secretary: Stephen O’Beirne 

 
 

Auditors: Mazars 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 
Harcourt Centre, Block 3, Harcourt Road, Dublin 2 

 
 

Principal Bankers: Bank of Ireland, 26 Marino Mart, Fairview, Dublin 3 
 
 

Solicitors: Doyle Solicitors 
31 South Bank, Crosses Green, Cork 

Colm O’Cochlainn & Company 
Old Blessington Road, Tallaght, Dublin 24 

 
O’Connell Brennan Solicitors 
Armitage House, 10 Lower Hatch Street, Dublin 2 
 
McCann Fitzgerald Solicitors 
Riverside One, Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
 
 

Vision 
Irish Wheelchair Association (IWA) has a vision of an Ireland where people with disabilities enjoy equal 
rights, choices, and opportunities in how they live their lives, and where our country is a model worldwide 
for a truly inclusive society. 

 
 
 

Mission 
Irish Wheelchair Association works with, and on behalf of, people with physical disabilities to drive positive 
change in Ireland through the influencing of public policy, the provision of quality services and enabling 
accessibility to all aspects of society. 

 
 
 
 

Core Values 
 

People are at the heart of everything that we do, and this is enshrined in all our values: 
 
• Integrity: IWA is proud of what we do and how we do it. We behave responsibly with the highest 

standards of integrity. Our work is informed by need and we operate to the highest standards of 
governance being accountable to our members, funders and the wider public. 

• Excellence: IWA’s commitment to excellence in the provision of services and corporate governance 
drives our development and growth as we strive to attain the highest standards in everything we do. 
We are results focused and operate with independence in all areas of our work. 

• Leadership: IWA is the leading influencer in shaping public policy and societal attitudes to advance 
social inclusion for people with physical disabilities. We see beyond boundaries and identify new 
approaches for an improved world for people with physical disabilities. 

• Respect: IWA is committed to a culture of mutual respect between members, staff, and volunteers. 
We listen with an open mind to what people have to say and value their diversity and contributions. 

• Equality: IWA believes in a fair and inclusive society. We work actively to ensure that every person 
with a physical disability in Ireland can achieve their right to an independent life, with equal access to 
opportunities, services and supports within their communities. 

• Positivity: IWA is immensely proud of our heritage, achievements, and people. We believe the 
determination of our members, staff, and volunteers to be instrumental in the achievement of a new, 
inclusive Ireland. 
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2021 ‐ A YEAR IN REVIEW 
 

We thought that 2020 was a year like no other, but January 2021 brought a new wave of the Covid‐19 
pandemic, and the longest lockdown society had experienced.  Throughout this period, Irish Wheelchair 
Association frontline staff continued to demonstrate their commitment and resilience, delivering new and 
existing services in full compliance with public health advice and government regulations, in order to ensure 
that those most in need of our services could avail of them.  During this time, we sadly lost some members 
of our IWA family to Covid‐19.  Their memory continues to inspire us and their loss is greatly felt.  
Throughout the year, Irish Wheelchair Association has continued to enhance our wellbeing supports and 
resources, and bereavement services were offered to those most impacted during this difficult period.  

The HSE cyber‐attack in May 2021 had significant business impacts for Irish Wheelchair Association as digital 
communications and processes with our main funder were suspended.  IWA’s ICT team responded with 
speed and agility to secure IWA’s digital infrastructure. Planned investment in, and rollout of, enhanced 
antiviral and cyber monitoring initiatives was accelerated from Q2 2021.  IWA’s Service and Finance teams 
worked in partnership with HSE colleagues to ensure there was no adverse impact to service delivery and 
that the impact on IWA’s cash flow during this period was minimal. 

Despite extraordinary challenges, further progress was made in advancing our strategic objectives as 
outlined later in this report, and following an extensive stakeholder engagement process, IWA’s Strategy 
2022 – 2025 was developed and ratified by IWA’s board in December.  

The Covid‐19 pandemic has taught us all much about ourselves. At Irish Wheelchair Association, we have 
become stronger, braver and more agile than we were before, and this has been reflected in our updated 
Values.  Most importantly, we have learned that even when we are apart, we are always together.  We are 
One IWA, a community to which people want to belong, continuously motivated by our passionate purpose 
to drive positive change for people with disabilities in Ireland. 
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What We Do: Our Services and Activities 

In accordance with our mission and vision, Irish Wheelchair Association provides a full range of quality 
services that empower people with disabilities to enjoy equal rights, choices, and opportunities in how they 
live their lives and that enable accessibility to all aspects of society. 

 
The impact of our work is ultimately to enable people with disabilities to live the life they choose and to 
participate fully in their communities and society. This benefits not only the individual but our society as a 
whole. 

 
• Assisted Living Service 

Irish Wheelchair Association’s Assisted Living Service (ALS) provides trained and professional Personal 
Assistants (PAs) to people with physical disabilities in their homes and communities. The PA service 
facilitates a person’s independence, improves their quality of life, provides access to education and 
employment, and supports them to participate in their local community. Irish Wheelchair Association 
PA supports range from a few hours a week to full 24/7 assistance. All PAs are qualified, Garda vetted 
and managed by Irish Wheelchair Association to ensure a consistent high standard and quality 
accredited service is consistently achieved. The person availing of the service chooses the best way to 
use their allocated PA hours, and Irish Wheelchair Association supports the individual to achieve 
maximum control over their life by tailoring their service to meet their unique support requirements.  
 
Irish Wheelchair Association ALS also provides ‘Enhanced Homecare Services’ for older people with PA 
staff trained to support the specific needs of this group. ‘IWA at Home’ offers individuals and families 
the opportunity to privately purchase an Irish Wheelchair Association PA service, delivered and 
supported by trained, professional Irish Wheelchair Association staff.   
 
2021 proved to be another challenging year with the continuing impact of Covid‐19. We operated 
under ever‐changing infection control protocols, we experienced significant challenges with 
recruitment and staff availability due to isolation rules for close contacts as well as staff testing positive 
for Covid‐19. During this time we continued to support our most vulnerable service users who depend 
on our PA service to ensure they can live independently in their own homes and communities. The 
continuous dedication and commitment of our staff in supporting our services users during this 
extraordinary and challenging time was amazing.  
 
In 2021, we delivered 1.25 million (2020: 1.3 million) hours of Assisted Living Service to 2,099 (2020: 
2,081) adults and children across Ireland.  

 
• Community Supports 

Through our network of 58 community centres around Ireland, we provide education, social, 
recreation and outreach support as well as essential personal supports to individuals of all age groups 
in their community. These services include independent living supports and accommodation, holiday 
and respite breaks, rehabilitative training, and a range of activities for young adults within and outside 
of Irish Wheelchair Association activities. Our community centres operate as a hub locally to provide 
activities, programmes and outings for our members within communities. Locally, communities also 
use our community centre facilities for their meetings, activities, and events. We opened three new 
locations in 2021, Navan, Dundalk and Roscommon.  
 
In response to the Covid‐19 pandemic and in compliance with Government and HSE guidelines, Irish 
Wheelchair Association services continued to be provided by the community engagement model of 
service throughout 2021. This ensured that our services continued to stay connected with the people 
who needed us. Our core value is that people are at the heart of everything we do. Our individual 
person‐centred approach is central to what we do; our services and supports are delivered to each  
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individual to meet their specific needs, wishes, options and preferences as expressed by them in their 
one‐to‐one meetings. In 2021 we provided 89,324 (2020: 86,723) days of services through the 
community engagement model of service equating to 714,529 (2020: 693,784) hours of service to 
2,587 (2020: 2,512) people. The increase in days is due to the expansion of the 'school leavers services’ 
in several locations across the country, including Longford, Dundalk, Drogheda, Navan, Kilkenny, Mayo, 
Galway and Portlaoise. A total of 34 new school leavers commenced service with Irish Wheelchair 
Association in 2021, including the new An Castan service in Meath.  

 

• Holiday and Respite Services 
The Irish Wheelchair Association respite service provided accessible and supported holidays and short 
breaks through our dedicated holiday centres in Ballinasloe, Kilkenny and Dublin. Our partnership 
approach in the community means that our guests have the pleasure of a HSE funded quality holiday 
experience with personal supports delivered by our staff.  
 
In 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association’s respite services continued in all three locations, while adhering 
to the government and HSE Covid‐19 guidelines. In addition, a new location was introduced in Tralee. 
This was a pilot initiative in partnership with the HSE, resulting in additional people being offered the 
opportunity of a holiday. The pilot ran for 12 weeks and received positive feedback from all our guests. 
 
Irish Wheelchair Association’s Holiday Services also continued to provide ‘In Home Respite’, a new 
initiative introduced in 2020. The purpose of the service is to support service users who could not avail 
of respite due to Covid‐19 restrictions. This model mobilised the individual supports from centre‐based 
settings to the service user’s home. 

 
• Sports 

 
IWA Sport is the National Governing Body (NGB) in Ireland for sport for people with physical 
disabilities. With a team of Sports Development Officers and a growing network of voluntary sports 
clubs, Irish Wheelchair Association encourage wide participation in sports for children and adults 
across all age groups and activity levels, and also supports high‐performance athletes nationally and 
internationally. 
 
For the second consecutive year, our traditional programme of activities was significantly disrupted by 
the Covid‐19 global pandemic. Therefore, we blended the delivery of programmes between virtual and 
in person at different stages during the year. We began the year delivering sports and physical activity 
programmes virtually in the form of our Staying Active initiatives where there were activities for 
everyone to participate in. 
 
As the restrictions gradually eased, we saw the return of outdoor sport initially. The return of the Para 
Athletics Grand Prix provided a massive lift to the IWA Sports community. It was wonderful to see lots 
of young first‐time athletes share the same stage with experienced paralympic athletes. Some of these 
athletes were chasing paralympic standards while others were turning up to see their friends, both 
motivations equally important. 
 
Wheelchair basketball also moved outdoors in the summer where a number of 3x3 events were run in 
partnership with Basketball Ireland. This change in how the games are run will likely remain a fixture 
in the Irish Wheelchair Association annual sports calendar.  

Indoor individual training returned from June and training indoors in small pods was phased back during 
the following weeks also. It wasn’t until late September that the restrictions allowed for meaningful 
group training and gradually, the majority of IWA‐Sport Clubs have returned to training. It was fantastic  
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to see indoor competition restart with the return of Wheelchair Basketball at a reduced capacity 
together with the National Championships in Para Powerlifting returning in October.  

On the international stage, our para powerlifters competed at an essential paralympic qualifier in March 
and later at the World Championships in Tiblisi, Georgia in what was a very successful year for the 
athletes.   

An estimated 4.25 billion viewers were said to have tuned into the 2020 Paralympic Games that took 
place a year later than planned in Tokyo and once again IWA‐Sport was well represented as it has been 
since the inaugural games in 1960.   

The demand for education and training courses was high in 2021. A number of introductory wheelchair 
basketball and wheelchair rugby courses were delivered together with a comprehensive programme of 
safeguarding 1 training courses. We also ran the inaugural Dr Oliver Murphy Youth Leadership 
Programme where eleven exceptional young leaders graduated.   

Looking at the year ahead, our national events programme is planned to be as busy as ever. We are once 
again aiming to host senior and junior wheelchair basketball competitions, the Irish Wheelchair Rugby 
League, Para Athletics Grand Prix competitions and National Championships in para powerlifting and 
swimming. We will also see our national teams compete at European Championships in para 
powerlifting, wheelchair rugby, wheelchair basketball and the Para Youth Games.  

It is important to acknowledge the financial support Sport Ireland provided to IWA Sport over the past 
two years. We also received support from the wider Irish sports sector to allow us to continue our 
work.  Core funding, Dormant Account funding and Recovery funding was all hugely important and 
impactful in supporting us to provide opportunities for our members. 
 

• Housing 
 

Housing Advocacy 
In 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association increased its representation to 29 of the 30 local authority Housing 
& Disability Steering Groups, and continuously advocates for the delivery of wheelchair liveable housing 
for disabled people. Irish Wheelchair Association is a member of the Implementation and Monitoring 
Group of the outgoing National Housing Strategy for People with Disabilities 2011‐2016 (extended to 
2020), and the Housing Agency ‐ Housing Sub‐Group with the joint focus being the implementation of 
the housing strategy. Additionally in 2021, we contributed to the development of the new National 
Housing Strategy for Disabled People 2022 ‐ 2027 with a particular focus on the design and delivery of 
wheelchair liveable housing.  
 

Approved Housing Body 
Irish Wheelchair Association is an approved housing body (AHB) under Section 6 of the Housing 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1992. In 2021 we provided 51 wheelchair‐accessible and affordable 
homes, and tenancy support, to people with limited mobility in Dublin, Kilkenny, Carlow, Tipperary, 
Mayo, Roscommon and Galway.  In 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association also purchased and adapted an 
additional apartment in Kilkenny. This apartment was fully funded by the Capital Assistance Scheme 
from the Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government. 
 
Irish Wheelchair Association also supported members in pursuing their desired housing options 
through various other housing providers including local authorities and voluntary housing associations. 
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• Environmental Access 

 
Think Housing Build Accessible 
In 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association commenced building a campaign entitled ‘Think Housing, Build 
Accessible’ calling for the review of Building Regulations, Part M 2010 (Section 3 Access & Use) in so 
far as it relates to housing. The regulations need to be amended as currently they only provide for 
wheelchair visitable housing as opposed to wheelchair liveable housing, resulting in the lack of design 
and delivery of wheelchair liveable housing in Ireland. In October 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association 
presented to the Oireachtas Joint Committee on Disability Matters calling for a review of these 
regulations. The campaign is supported by the alliance of disability sector organisations and continues 
to grow during 2022.  
 
IWA Best Practice Access Guide 4th Edition 
In 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association continued to lobby for increased access in local communities 
nationwide through the work of our members, volunteers, and staff in IWA and external access groups. 
We also conducted access audits for individuals and companies as well as awareness training.  
 
National Strategy on Outdoor Recreation 
In June 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association made a submission to the development of Ireland’s national 
strategy on outdoor recreation primarily based on our publication, ‘Great Outdoors A Guide to 
Accessibility’. 
 

• Transport 
Irish Wheelchair Association has a nationwide fleet of 123 (2020: 116) accessible buses to support the 
delivery of services in our centres and other locations.  Our nationwide fleet also provides essential 
transport services for a wide range of voluntary social and sports activities. Throughout the year we 
continued to make considerable progress in our ongoing work, updating our fleet with the purchase 
of new buses and the removal of older vehicles. We advocate on a wide range of transport related 
issues highlighted by our members by working in partnership with public transport providers, 
government, and other organisations.  
Irish Wheelchair Association promotes independence for people with disabilities through the motoring 
advice, assessment, and tuition service (MAATS), which provides motorists with disabilities the 
opportunity to learn or to return to driving. In 2021 these services were impacted by Covid‐19 
restrictions. We provided 1,083 (2020: 827) lessons to 257 (2020: 180) students and assessed 334 
(2020: 343) clients in our driving centres. We also provide training to taxi drivers on behalf of the 
National Transport Authority. Irish Wheelchair Association is a Department of Transport approved 
agency for the issue of Disabled Drivers’ Parking Permits. 

 
• Communications and advocacy 

Amplifying the voice of people with disabilities and raising the issues that are important to our 
members is a key component of our work. With over 20,000 members and 3,000 people using our 
services every week, Irish Wheelchair Association has a depth of understanding of the barriers for 
disabled people in our society. Our new advocacy team formed in 2020, hit the ground running in 2021, 
with a number of important projects. Our pilot self‐advocacy training was rolled out over eight weeks 
and provided key learnings for the national roll‐out which will happen in 2022. 
 
On the campaign front, Irish Wheelchair Association developed the ‘Think Ahead, Think Housing’ 
campaign which proved highly successful in ensuring people with a disability could highlight their need 
for wheelchair accessible housing on the social housing list register. As part of the ‘Think Housing, Build 
Accessible’ campaign Irish Wheelchair Association have secured signatures for a petition which will be 
brought to government in 2022.  
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Irish Wheelchair Association has strong engagement at government level, demonstrated by our 
presentation at the Oireachtas Disability Matters Committee on Housing, together with a number of 
important submissions including on the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with 
Disabilities (UNCRPD) draft report and review of equality legislation. On the international front we 
engaged with the Swedish disability organisation, Disability Human Rights (DHR) regarding areas of 
opportunity for collaboration in 2022.  

 
• Fundraising and social enterprises 

Covid‐19 restrictions continued to impede the development of our retail network and fundraising 
activities. Despite this, Irish Wheelchair Association invested in diversifying our income by recruiting a 
new fundraising team focused on corporate, trusts & foundations and individual giving and direct 
marketing. This strategy proved successful with a number of key corporate partners coming on board 
for 2021 including Chadwicks, Free Now, John Paul Construction, Liberty Insurance and Microsoft. Our 
direct marketing activity also proved successful with a strong response to our Christmas direct mail 
and email campaign. Our corporate supporters encouraged their staff to participate in our annual 
abseil at Croke Park, raising much needed funds to support the organisation. 
 

• Focus on quality 
The Quality and Standards Department underpins Irish Wheelchair Association’s commitment to 
excellence. We work in partnership with all departments to support developments that are aligned to 
good practice and governance. Our quality, person centred culture, works to meet people’s 
expectations and the community, is charted in our mission, vision and values, embedded in our 
strategic plan, our governance, communication and decision‐making structures, and in compliance 
with laws and regulations. To facilitate this quality culture, we monitor and improve our work through 
the Plan‐Do‐Check‐Act system resulting in continuous improvement and outcomes for people who 
avail of our services and supports. Irish Wheelchair Association’s quality standards are stated in our 
national policies, operational manuals, guides, charters, and codes. The Quality Assurance Policy 
outlines our transparent approach to internal audits and the verification of our standards and 
continuous improvement through external accreditation. Since 2013, external quality accreditation 
has been undertaken by EIQA using the Q Mark Quality Assurance principles. Despite operating under 
the restrictions and strict controls imposed by the pandemic, Irish Wheelchair Association achieved 
continuous improvement, following the external 2021 Q Mark Quality Assurance Audit. We were 
absolutely delighted and proud to be awarded for the first time, a Level 3 Certification, which is the 
highest award level available.  

 
 
• Volunteers 

Irish Wheelchair Association values the involvement and contribution of volunteers to the success of 
the association since its foundation in 1960. The Covid‐19 pandemic has significantly impacted 
volunteering activities. Volunteer roles included board members, retail volunteers, drivers, 
companions, fundraisers, administrators, coaches, tutors, programme assistants, maintenance 
personnel, members of branch and sports clubs, to mention a few. People are at the heart of 
everything we do, and it is the giving and receiving that contributes to who and what we are. We thank 
our volunteers for their contribution in 2021. 
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Strategic Plan  
 
Strategic Plan 2017‐2021 

 
In 2017, Irish Wheelchair Association launched its Strategic Plan for 2017‐2021. The plan involved an 
extensive consultation process. 

 
The goal set out in the plan is that: 

Irish Wheelchair Association is recognised as Ireland’s leading organisation for people with physical 
disabilities. We are a thriving, independent organisation, advocating for an inclusive society and 
providing quality services that enable people with physical disabilities to live the life they choose. 

 
The Strategic Plan sets out six strategic objectives by which this goal will be achieved: 

 Profile: Raise our profile so that IWA is recognised as Ireland’s leading representative organisation 
and service provider for people with physical disabilities. 

 Infrastructure and resources: With a focus on excellence, maximise efficiency and effectiveness 
of people, infrastructure, assets, and resources. 

 Advocacy: We advocate for the rights, choices, opportunities, and independence of people with 
disabilities, to achieve international best standards of service provision and full social inclusion. 

 Services: IWA delivers a range of quality accredited services that meet the requirements of people 
with disabilities and that reflect, through a process of continuous improvement, international and 
sectoral standards of excellence. 

 Communication and engagement: People are at the centre of everything we do. We value and 
prioritise communications with staff, members, volunteers, and customers, to enable and 
empower everyone to contribute directly to the success of IWA. 

 Financial sustainability:  Ensure IWA long‐term financial sustainability and resilience.
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Achieving our Strategic Objectives:  Progress in 2021 

Throughout 2021, and notwithstanding the impact of Covid‐19 on everything we do, Irish Wheelchair 
Association continued to work towards delivery of our 2017 – 2021 Strategic Plan and our overriding 
strategic goal – to be a thriving, independent organisation, advocating for an inclusive society and 
providing quality services that enable people with physical disabilities to live the life they choose. 

To ensure the achievement of Irish Wheelchair Association’s strategic objectives, the organisation sets out 
key performance indicators at the beginning of each year to monitor and track progress against our 
Strategic Plan. 2021 was another busy and successful year for Irish Wheelchair Association and the services 
we deliver, and key achievements are highlighted as follows: 

 
PROFILE 

 
 Achievement: Irish Wheelchair Association was named 5th best employer in Ireland and best 

healthcare and best charity employer in Sunday Independent/Statista survey.  Irish Wheelchair 
Association’s public profile increased during Tokyo Paralympics through extensive and relevant social 
media content, participation of Irish Wheelchair Association members at the games and staff and 
members involvement in mainstream media coverage of the games.  Irish Wheelchair Association 
Ability programme won the Aontas Star Award for Social Inclusion and Irish Wheelchair Association 
was shortlisted and highly commended at IITD and HR Leadership Awards. 
Strategic Action: Increase public awareness of Irish Wheelchair Association and its activities; 
recognition of Irish Wheelchair Association as a leading representative organisation and service 
provider for people with physical disabilities. 
 

 Achievement: Irish Wheelchair Association achieved increased extensive coverage across all 
platforms for campaigns and activities throughout 2021 ‐ Print and digital news: Coverage 735m; 917 
articles. Broadcast: Reach 40.8m; 384 segments. Social Media: Audience 19.5k; posts 2.3k; 
Impressions 8.6m; Engagement 338k. 
Strategic Action: Increase Irish Wheelchair Association footprint across all media platforms.    

 

INFRASTRUCTURE & RESOURCES 

 
 Achievement: Through a mix of successful grant applications along with fundraising and corporate 

sponsorships, Irish Wheelchair Association continued to significantly upgrade our accessible bus fleet 
during the year in order to provide vital transport support to our service users and members. 
Successful grant applications for additional ICT funding for laptops and tablets enabled IWA service 
users and staff to stay connected and support new ways of working throughout the Covid‐19 
pandemic.  
Strategic Action: Align Irish Wheelchair Association’s asset portfolio with our strategic goals and 
objectives. 
 

 Achievement: Fundraising restructure completed with appointment of Head of Fundraising, 
Corporate, Digital and Individual Giving specialists to ensure Irish Wheelchair Association is well 
positioned for post‐Covid fundraising environment. Development and delivery of Irish Wheelchair 
Association Strategy 2022‐2025 approved by Irish Wheelchair Association Board in December 2021.  
Strategic Action: Implement corporate and organisational structures that align functions, roles, and 
competencies with delivery of our strategy. 
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 Achievement: In response to the HSE Cyber‐attack, Irish Wheelchair Association’s investment in and 
rollout of enhanced antiviral and cyber monitoring initiatives was accelerated. Implementation of 
Decision Time software for use by Irish Wheelchair Association Board.  Finance system upgraded. 
Strategic Action: Invest in information technology infrastructure to increase economic value and 
improve operational excellence across all our activities. 

 
 

 Achievement: Further to the 2020 development of Irish Wheelchair Association’s Wellbeing Strategy, 
in 2021 IWA achieved IBEC KeepWell Mark accreditation. Irish Wheelchair Association managers 
participated in the UCD Performance Academy and obtained professional diplomas in Leadership & 
Management, Project Management, Change Management, and Digital Marketing. Irish Wheelchair 
Association succession planning project commenced to develop a pipeline of talent for strategic and 
senior roles. 
Strategic Action: Invest in the development of our people and create a management culture that 
encourages innovation and empowerment across all functions in the organisation. 

 
ADVOCACY 
 

 Achievement: Development, communication and implementation of Irish Wheelchair Association 
(IWA) Advocacy Strategy. Expansion of IWA’s Advocacy Team, all people with disabilities, and 
appointment of Public Engagement Manager. 
Strategic Action: Define Irish Wheelchair Association's desired advocacy impacts in line with the 
wants, needs and requirements of our members. 
 

 Achievement: Irish Wheelchair Association self‐advocacy course materials developed, and pilot 
programme delivered. Completion of inaugural Oliver Murphy Youth Leadership programme with 
young IWA‐ Sport members.   
Strategic Action: Enable and empower people with disabilities to become active citizens and 
powerful self‐advocates. 

 
 Achievement: Extensive engagement between Irish Wheelchair Association, government officials, 

local authorities, HSE and public representatives on Irish Wheelchair Association ‘Think Ahead Think 
Housing’ campaign. Increased Irish Wheelchair Association representation on industry forums and 
government bodies, e.g. Taxi Advisory Committee, Department of Transport Access Consultative 
Forum and Bus Eireann User Group.  
Strategic Action: Work independently and in partnership with others to positively influence policy 
and attitudes in all areas impacting the lives of people with disabilities. 

 

SERVICES 

 
 Achievement: Irish Wheelchair Association increased external quality accreditation to Q Mark Level 

3, the highest level of attainment, and achieved increased scores across all Quality Management 
Assessment systems scoring criteria, i.e. Leadership, Employee Engagement, Business Systems & 
Processes, Customer Experience and Results. 
Strategic Action: Retain and expand Irish Wheelchair Association's external quality accreditation 
across all services. 
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 Achievement: Irish Wheelchair Association services continued to adapt to the needs of our service 
users in the context of the Covid‐19 pandemic, related public health advice and appropriate risk 
assessments throughout 2021. Expansion of Hotel Holiday Respite model at HSE's request based 
on positive experience of Irish Wheelchair Association Hotel Holiday model in other areas. Irish 
Wheelchair Association supported 34 new school leavers from Q3 2021. New community hub 
commenced in Balbriggan and new community centre opened in Dundalk. Irish Wheelchair 
Association continued to support HSE Covid‐19 test and trace programme throughout 2021. 

 Strategic Action: Ongoing review of delivery of services in line with evolving service user 
requirements, operational viability, and sectoral developments. 

 

COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT 
 
 Achievement: Irish Wheelchair Association’s ongoing commitment to employee wellbeing, 

particularly in the context of working through the pandemic, was enhanced by the further 
development of our wellbeing portal and email communications.  Building on online communications 
channels developed during 2020, Irish Wheelchair Association has continued to adapt to the digital 
environment delivering successful and well attended Irish Wheelchair Association and IWA‐ Sport 
AGMs in May 2021, as well as the broadcast of Remembrance and Christmas concerts for all members, 
volunteers and staff in Q4 2021.   
Strategic Action: Develop and implement internal communication channels for Irish Wheelchair 
Association board, management, staff, members, volunteers, and customers across all our services, 
functions, and activities. 

 
 Achievement: An extensive stakeholder consultation process comprising Irish Wheelchair Association 

members, service users, staff, board, volunteers and key external stakeholders was conducted 
remotely as part of the development of Irish Wheelchair Association's Strategy 2022 – 2025.  
Strategic Action: Understand our membership profile and grow our membership through enhanced 
engagement with customers and the wider community of people with disabilities. 
 

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 
 
 Achievement: Irish Wheelchair Association secured funding for extension of the Irish Wheelchair 

Association Ability programme; Secured new funding for additional school leaver services from HSE; 
Awarded once‐off programme funding under the Sustainable Disability Services fund; Received 
funding through Late Late Toy Show Appeal to develop and deliver DAISY – our schools and youth 
disability awareness programme.  
Strategic Action: Diversify and grow our income streams. 
 

 Achievement: Throughout 2021, Irish Wheelchair Association further developed relationships with 
our corporate partners including Chadwicks, Free Now, John Paul Construction, Liberty Insurance and 
Microsoft. Due to proactive relationship management with HSE at National and CHO levels, HSE cyber‐
attack impact on Irish Wheelchair Association cashflow were minimised.  
Strategic Action: Develop long term sustainable and mutually beneficial relationships with all of our 
customers while pricing our services to reflect our value. 
 
 

Over the life of our deliberately aspirational 2017 – 2021 Strategic Plan, Irish Wheelchair Association has 
grown and developed substantially. We have increased our advocacy and media footprints; introduced and 
developed new and innovative services; structured our organisation to be more resilient and efficient; and 
achieved the financial sustainability that was critical to delivering that Strategy.  Most importantly, through 



I.W.A. COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE 
Operating under the registered name of Irish Wheelchair Association 
  

16  

the implementation of the Strategic Plan, we have firmly placed people at the heart of everything we do, and 
by aligning our values with our competency and performance management frameworks, we have embedded 
a culture of empowerment and accountability across the organisation.  As we look forward to implementing 
our new strategic plan in 2022, the table below sets out the status of each of the ambitious objectives we set 
ourselves for 2017 – 2021. 
 
 
 
IRISH WHEELCHAIR ASSOCIATION (IWA) STRATEGIC PLAN 2017 - 2021 
 

Strategic Objective Action  Status 
Profile: Raise our profile so that 
IWA is recognised as Ireland’s 
leading representative 
organisation and service provider 
for people with physical 
disabilities 

Increase public awareness of IWA 
and its activities 

Achieved 

Increase IWA footprint across all 
media platforms 

Achieved 

Implement processes and 
systems that allow us to measure 
and report on our social impact 
and outcomes 

Achieved 

Infrastructures & Resources: 
With a focus on excellence, 
maximise efficiency and 
effectiveness of people, 
infrastructure, assets and 
resources 

Invest in development of our 
people and create a management 
culture that encourages 
innovation, empowerment and 
accountability at all levels and 
across all functions in the 
organisation 

Achieved 

Implement corporate and 
organisational structures that 
align functions, roles and 
competencies with delivery of 
our strategy 

Achieved 

Invest in our IT infrastructure to 
enhance economic value and 
operational excellence across all 
our activities 

Commenced 

Align IWA’s asset portfolio with 
our strategic goals and objectives 

Progressed & Ongoing 

Advocacy: 
Advocate for the rights, choices, 
opportunities and independence 
of people with disabilities to 
achieve international best 
standards of service provision 
and full social inclusion 

Define IWA’s desired advocacy 
impacts in line with the wants, 
needs and requirements of our 
members 

Progressed & Ongoing 

Enable and empower people with 
disabilities to become active 
citizens and powerful self‐ 
advocates 

Progressed & Ongoing 

Work independently and in 
partnership with others to 
positively influence policy and 
attitudes in all areas impacting 
the lives of people with 
disabilities 
 

Progressed & Ongoing 
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Research and identify 
international best practice for 
advocacy and advocating 
specifically for people with 
disabilities 

Deferred to 2022‐2025 

Services: Deliver a range of 
quality accredited services that 
meet the requirements of people 
with disabilities and that reflect, 
through a process of continuous 
improvement, international and 
sectoral standards of excellence 

Retain and expand IWA’s 
external quality accreditation 
across all services 

Achieved 

Ongoing review and delivery of 
service in line with customer 
requirements, financial and 
operational viability, 
international best practice and 
sectoral developments 

Progressed & Ongoing 

Communication & Engagement: 
We value and prioritise 
communication with staff, 
members, volunteers and 
customers to enable and 
empower everyone to contribute 
directly to the success of IWA 

Develop and implement internal 
communications channels that 
encompass IWA board, 
management, staff, members, 
volunteers and customers across 
all of our services, functions and 
activities 

Achieved 

Understand our membership 
profile and grow our membership 
through enhanced engagement 
with customers and the wider 
community of people with 
disabilities 

Deferred to 2022‐2025 

Financial Sustainability: Ensure 
IWA’s long term financial 
sustainability and resilience 

Price our service to cover our 
costs and reflect our value 

Progressed and ongoing 

Diversify and grow our income 
streams 

Achieved 

Grow our contribution from 
every income source to ensure 
we build financial reserves to the 
levels that are in line with best 
corporate practice 

Progressed and ongoing 

Develop long term sustainable 
and mutually beneficial 
relationships with all our 
customers 

Progressed and ongoing 

 

Looking Forward:   Plans and challenges for 2022 
 

Strategic Plan 2022‐2025 
 

During 2021, IWA board and senior management – in consultation with our members, staff, volunteers and 
external stakeholders ‐ developed our new Strategic Plan for 2022‐2025. In developing this ambitious 
strategy, we reviewed IWA’s Values, Vision and Mission, and analysed all stakeholder consultation outputs, 
the context within which IWA operates and the organisation itself. We identified challenges to be 
addressed, opportunities to be pursued and areas of focus for the next four years.   
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IWA’s strategy for 2022‐2025 is to make progress towards the full implementation of United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD) through further development of our 
Advocacy and Services, with an increased focus on People and Culture and through investment in Business 
Processes and Technology, and enhancement of IWA’s Identity and Profile, while ensuring our long‐term 
Financial Prosperity.  
 
IWA’s Strategic Objectives set out how we will deliver on our Mission during 2022‐2025. Metrics have been 
designed to be clear and measurable indicators of successful achievement of the Strategic Objectives. 
Strategic Actions outline at a high level how these Strategic Objectives will be met. 

 
IWA’s Strategic Plan 2022 – 2025 sets out seven strategic objectives by which this goal will be achieved: 
 

 ADVOCACY: IWA’s advocacy, with and on behalf of people with physical disabilities, progresses 
the achievement of their equal rights underpinned by the UNCRPD.  

 SERVICES: IWA facilitates the delivery of the optimal composition of quality assured services that 
are consistent with UNCRPD and are financially and operationally viable. 

 PEOPLE: IWA is a diverse and inclusive employer, with the right people in the right place at the 
right time with the right competencies and values, supported by a vibrant community of 
volunteers. 

 FINANCIAL PROSPERITY: IWA has ensured our long‐term financial prosperity in order to secure 
our fiscal autonomy. 

 BUSINESS PROCESSES AND TECHNOLOGY:  IWA has robust IT solutions, business processes and 
technology which adapt to and meet current and future business needs and ensure sustainability. 

 IDENTITY & PROFILE: Maintain recognition of IWA as Ireland’s leading representative organisation 
and service provider for People with Physical Disabilities. 

 CULTURE: People are at the centre of everything we do. We are one IWA, with a culture of 
diversity, belonging and inclusion 

 

The Strategy will only be effective if it drives all activity within Irish Wheelchair Association and if what we 
are doing on a day‐to‐day basis can be linked back up to the Strategic Plan and, ultimately, IWA’s Values, 
Vision and Mission.  

To achieve this, the strategic objectives will be cascaded into business plans that will drive all of IWA’s 
functions and activities including goals and performance metrics for all employees. Irish Wheelchair 
Association will establish a Project Management Office to facilitate a uniform approach, and standard 
templates and processes across the whole organisation. 
 
No strategy should be set in stone and our experience of the Covid‐19 pandemic, the HSE cyber‐attack and 
the unfolding crisis in Ukraine, has taught us that uncertainty will be part of our external environment for the 
foreseeable future. Irish Wheelchair Association must be able to position itself to respond to changing 
dynamics and circumstances, so agility must be built into the strategy implementation. What this means is 
that a review of the external and internal environment will be built into the implementation and review 
processes and, where necessary, appropriate modifications or recalibration will be made to the strategy. It 
will be imperative that any such changes, their rationale, and any resulting amendments to business plans 
and individual goals, be implemented and communicated clearly and consistently throughout the 
organisation. 
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Financial Review 
The results for the year are set out in the Statement of Financial Activities on page 36. 

 
Financial results for the year 

In full compliance with SORP, the Statement of Financial Activities includes all fixed assets capital grants 
received and utilisation of those grants, as well as operating income and expenditure for the year.  

2021 commenced with another, more difficult wave of Covid‐19 which resulted in the longest lockdown of 
the pandemic. Irish Wheelchair Association continued to deliver services in line with Government and HSE 
guidelines.  

In 2021, Irish Wheelchair Association felt the negative impact of Covid‐19 on its unrestricted operating 
income, which fell from €8.0m in 2019 to €5.6m in 2020 and €5.8m in 2021, with unrestricted net income 
falling to €0.6m in 2021.  

At the beginning of 2020, Irish Wheelchair Association and HSE commenced a verification process on 
funding deficits. The process was partially completed and resulted in additional HSE funding of €0.6m in 
2020. This funding was also secured for 2021. During 2021 Irish Wheelchair Association and HSE resolved 
some old funding issues which had contributed to deficits in previous years of €0.5m. Other historical 
deficits in services were temporarily bridged by these items as well as securing additional grants and 
funding for new services, the further expansion of the School Leavers service and lower expenditure in 
transport costs due to travel restrictions. The HSE cyber‐attack in May 2021 had a significant business 
impact on Irish Wheelchair Association. Our ICT team worked immediately to secure our digital 
infrastructure, at an additional cost of €0.1m. Irish Wheelchair Association received a generous legacy of 
€0.1m during 2021 which has specific restrictions on how it can be spent. No expenditure has been 
incurred against this income in 2021. The overall impact on restricted operating funds was net restricted 
operating income of €0.9m in 2021 (2020: €0.7m).  

The annual challenge of funding for services delivered on behalf of HSE has not gone away. The positive 
outcome in 2021 is as a result of a number of once off events as outlined in the previous paragraph. Irish 
Wheelchair Association will continue to build on our relationship with the HSE in the same joint, 
supportive, and forward‐thinking approach to address the longer‐term financial sustainability of delivering 
services on behalf of the HSE. We will look at new ways to generate opportunities and income across all 
our services.   

Income on restricted fixed asset funds is derived from fundraising events for fixed assets and also from 
capital grants and varies from year to year. Costs recognised each year relate to the depreciation on the 
fixed assets purchased from this funding. In 2021, income received was €1.55m, compared to expenditure 
of €1.45m, resulting in a net surplus of €0.1m. 

Net operating income in 2021 was €1.7m (2020: net operating income €0.8m). The net income in restricted 
fixed asset funds was €0.1m (2020: net operating expenditure €1.1m). Total net income in 2021 was €1.8m 
(2020: net expenditure €0.3m ). 

 
Implementation of the Lansdowne Road Agreement 

Following the conclusion of Section 39 pay restoration negotiations in late 2018, IWA secured Phase 1 
funding in 2019, secured Phase 2 funding in October 2020 and secured the final phase, Phase 3 funding 
from the HSE in October 2021 for our staff.   
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Income 

Total income for 2021 was €64.5m (2020: €60.6m). 

• Restricted operating income was €56.7m (2020: €53.5m). IWA is a major provider of services to HSE. 
IWA is funded by the HSE as a ‘Section 39 organisation’ and received income of €50.7m in 2021 (2020: 
€46.9m) as assistance towards delivering a wide range of services including Assisted Living Services, 
the Community Centres, Respite and Supported Living. €4.8m (2020: €5.5m) was received through the 
DSP Community Employment Scheme, which enabled IWA to employ 294 (2020: 345) staff as a vital 
support to our Community Centre services.  A further €1.1m (2020: €1.1m) for services was received 
through the Irish Sports Council, Pobal, the National Lottery and other grants. 

• To maintain and deliver its services, IWA generated unrestricted operating income of €5.8m (2020: 
€5.6m) from a broad range of sources including income generated locally by the services and through 
our social enterprises, fundraising campaigns, events, and charity shops. 

• Designated operating income of €0.4m (2020: €0.3m) in the year comprises the income of IWA 
voluntary branches and sports clubs together with fundraising income for specific IWA activities. 

• Restricted fixed asset fund income comprises grants and other income received in 2021 for capital 
projects and was €1.55m (2020: €1.2m). This includes funding from the Department of Environment 
Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) for the purchase of one new wheelchair‐accessible apartment and 
adaptations in Kilkenny €0.2m, HSE funding towards 20 new buses €0.8m, Clár funding of €0.2m 
towards 5 new buses, HSE capital projects €0.2m, and fundraising for capital projects €0.15m. 

 
Expenditure 

Total expenditure in 2021 was €62.7m (2020: €60.9m). 

• 98% of operating expenditure is incurred on charitable activities and the provision of services. IWA’s 
largest service is the Assisted Living Service, with €33.0m (2020: €31.1m) spent in delivering 1.25 million 
hours of personal assistance. €17.2m (2020: €16.7m) of expenditure was for the Community Centres 
at our locations nationwide. Expenditure on all other charitable services and activities was €5.6m 
(2020: €9.5m). 

• The cost of raising funds was €1.1m (2020: €1.4m) to generate fundraising income and operate the 
charity shops. 

• Fixed asset funds expenditure of €1.45m (2020: €2.2m) represents the utilisation of capital grants being 
the depreciation of the related assets. 

• To minimise costs and ensure that resources are directed to frontline services, IWA operates a National 
Central Services function to support all of the organisation’s services and activities. Support costs 
including governance costs were 8.1% (2020: 7.6%) of expenditure. 

• IWA is a people‐based organisation with most staff working directly in frontline services. Pay costs are 
85% (2020: 86%) of operating expenditure. IWA acknowledges and appreciates the contribution of 
employees to the delivery of services and to the success of the organisation. 
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Funds at 31 December 2021 

Total Funds at 31 December 2021 were €22.9m (2020: €21.2m). 

• Restricted operating income is received and spent in the year in the delivery of services, with the 
exception of restricted legacies. Restricted income for the delivery of services, typically does not cover 
the cost of delivery of those services and is supplemented by IWA unrestricted income.  However, in 
2021, Restricted Operating Funds, excluding restricted legacy, are in a surplus of €0.8m and will be 
carried forward into the following year. During 2021 IWA received a restricted legacy and a balance of 
€0.1m remains at 31 December 2021, and a balance of €0.2m remains from a 2019 restricted legacy 
at 31 December 2021. Restricted fixed asset funds, which are the residual value of capital grants and 
other fixed asset income, were €14.8m (2020: €14.7m). 

• Unrestricted operating funds relate to income generated by IWA which may be used at the discretion 
of the association in furtherance of the objects of the charity. Unrestricted funds are €4.6m at 31 
December 2021 (2020: €4.0m). 

• Designated operating funds relate to IWA voluntary branches and sports clubs and also unspent 
fundraised income for specific IWA activities. Designated funds amount to €1.6m at 31 December 2021 
(2020: €1.5m). 

 
 

Cashflow and bank balances 

• 2021 review: Cashflow continues to be a priority for the company. At 31 December 2021, IWA had 
bank balances of €16.1m (2020: €10.6m). This is made up of designated Branches and Sports Clubs of 
€0.8m (2020: €0.9m), other designated funds of €0.8m (2020: €0.6m), restricted fixed asset funds of 
€1.7m (2020: €0.4m), restricted legacies of €0.3m (2020: €0.2m), deferred income of €4.4m (2020: 
€2.6m), other restricted funds of €2.6m (2020: €1.5m) and unrestricted operating funds of €5.5m 
(2020: €4.4m). The increase in unrestricted operating funds was due to more effective debtor and 
creditor management and timing of the receipt of funds late in 2021.  

• Investment policy: In accordance with the Constitution, the directors have the power to make 
investment decisions in keeping with the objects of the company. IWA takes a prudent approach to 
any such investment. If any cash is not required for immediate use, it is held in a bank deposit account. 
Capital volatility is not permitted and therefore funds are not invested in securities, commodities or 
other instruments carrying capital risk and are held in Euros to avoid currency volatility. 

• Borrowings policy: The organisation has no borrowings at present. 
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Reserves policy 

• IWA has a policy of retaining sufficient unrestricted reserves to safeguard the continuity of its 
operations and to implement its current Strategic Plan. In consideration of its status as a major service 
provider and a major employer, the company is working to build the level of unrestricted funds to 
ensure the continued financial sustainability and resilience of the organisation and has set a long‐term 
strategic target of three months’ expenditure. 

• This means increasing unrestricted funds from the current level of €4.6m to €15.0m. This target level 
of reserves is in accordance with best practice for an independent company and charity. It ensures 
that the company, as well as continuing to successfully meet its obligations under the Companies Act 
2014, also has the resilience to respond to unexpected events and the resources to enable services to 
evolve to meet the changing needs of people with disabilities.  

• The actions to achieve this target were set out in IWA’s Strategic Plan 2017‐2021. These actions 
included an ongoing review of services delivered in line with customer requirements, financial and 
operational viability, international best practice, and sectoral developments. IWA is continually 
engaging with the HSE, its largest funder, to address services in deficit.  IWA’s Strategic Plan 2022‐2025 
includes actions to continue this progress. The actions include growing the organisations contribution, 
maintaining long term sustainable and mutually beneficial relationships with customers and suppliers, 
pricing services to cover costs and our value, quantifying the investment required in the organisation’s 
infrastructure and people, and diversifying our income sources. 

 
 

Fixed asset investment 

• Fixed asset investment in 2021 was €1.1m (2020: €0.8m). With the support of Department of Environment 
Capital Assistance Scheme funding IWA purchased and adapted one new accessible home in Kilkenny at 
a cost of €0.2m. With the support of HSE, Irish Wheelchair Association invested in a new premises in 
Dundalk at a cost of €0.2m.  

 
• Utilising National Lottery grants and other fixed asset fund income generated for that specific purpose 

over a number of years, IWA purchased 11 new accessible buses to replace the oldest vehicles in the bus 
fleet, one new driving school car, and an additional five accessible buses have been purchased with the 
support of 2021 CLÁR programme funding. This investment makes a valuable contribution to maintaining 
IWA’s essential service and reducing operational costs. 

 
 

Events since the balance sheet date 

In the period since year end Ukraine has been invaded by Russia with far‐reaching global ramifications. 
Irish Wheelchair Association is monitoring events in Ukraine and considering any potential impact arising 
from same on operations, service delivery and finances. The impact of developments after the balance 
sheet date is not considered to impact carrying value of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
While there is likely to be a future financial impact from an economic downturn, inflation, and rising fuel 
costs this has not yet been quantified. 
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Company Structure 
 

Legal Structure 

I.W.A. Company Limited by Guarantee operates under the registered business name of Irish Wheelchair 
Association. It is a company limited by guarantee operating under the Companies Act 2014 and it is an 
Irish charity registered with the Charities Regulatory Authority. The company is a public benefit entity as 
defined by the Financial Reporting Council. The company is governed by its Board of Directors in 
accordance with the Constitution. The Chief Executive Officer reports to the Board. 

 
Members’ Organisation 

Irish Wheelchair Association was founded in 1960 by people with disabilities and it continues to be a 
‘member‐owned organisation’. There are over 20,000 registered members, all of whom receive an 
invitation to the Annual General Meeting (AGM). The Constitution sets out persons who are eligible for 
membership of the company. The members are individuals with disabilities or reduced mobility as well 
as volunteers, family members and friends. 

At the AGM, the members receive the report of the Board on the activities of the year and the financial 
results, appoint members to the Board of Directors, and discuss and vote on resolutions relating to the 
strategic direction of the organisation as well as on any proposed changes to the Constitution. This unique 
structure gives the organisation a high level of accountability and transparency in its activities and it 
ensures that IWA is completely focused on the evolving needs of people with physical disabilities. Due to 
Covid‐19, the AGM was held virtually and four new members were appointed to the Board of Directors. 

 
Subsidiary Company 

I.W.A. Company Limited by Guarantee is a single legal entity. It has one wholly‐owned subsidiary, Ability 
Consultancy Training Limited, a fully integrated operation within IWA, which provides training in specialist 
skills related to the provision of services to people with disabilities, the results of which are consolidated 
in these financial statements. 

 
Voluntary Branches and Sports Clubs 

Irish Wheelchair Association has a network of 25 (2020: 27) branches nationally as well as 26 (2020:31) 
sports clubs and sports sections. These voluntary groups are a vital part of IWA, engaging in social, sports, 
fundraising and community activities at local level. The voluntary groups do not engage in direct provision 
of funded services, nor do they have any employees or hold property. They operate under the Bye‐Laws 
and Standing Orders of IWA. 
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Board of Directors 

About the Board of Directors 

The composition of the Board of Directors is set out in the Constitution to represent the various 
stakeholders in the organisation. The Board may have a maximum of 16 directors with a minimum of 13, 
with 14 directors in place at 31 December 2021. The Board comprises the President, elected by the 
members; two directors elected from the company’s employees by employee ballot; one member of the 
company’s sports section elected through the Sports Executive; a maximum of nine members elected at 
the AGM; and a maximum of three further directors who may be co‐opted by the Board for their 
particular expertise. At least a third of the directors must be persons with reduced mobility. The broad 
composition of IWA Board provides diverse perspectives and insight in relation to IWA services and our 
stakeholders as well as providing commercial, financial, and legal expertise. The position of President is 
vacant at present. 

The Board of Directors has delegated the day‐to‐day management of the organisation to the Chief 
Executive Officer and Senior Management Team as set out on page 4. 

 

 

Meet the current Board of Directors 
 

Martin Kelly ‐ Chairperson 

Martin was appointed to the Board in 2016. He is currently the CFO for Monaghan Mushrooms. Prior to 
that Martin held various senior positions with Airsynergy, Aryzta Plc, the international frozen bakery 
company as well as senior positions in a range of European and globally focused multinational companies. 
He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and holds a PhD from the University 
of Limerick and an MBA from University College Dublin. 

 

Laura MacDermott – Vice Chairperson 

Laura was elected to the Board in 2019. Laura is a solicitor, now retired with over 37 years’ experience 
in practice in corporate/financial law and 30 years as a partner successively in two leading Dublin firms. 
She has excellent management skills coupled with a strategic outlook and proven leadership ability. She 
has been a member of IWA Audit, Finance and Risk Committee since early 2018 which has allowed her 
to develop an understanding of the operations, key aims and challenges facing Irish Wheelchair 
Association. 

 

Donal Sands – Honorary Secretary 

Donal joined IWA Board in 2016. Prior to retirement, he was Assistant Director General of FAS for over 
20 years. Initially in charge of Finance, IT and other administrative services, Donal then went on to head 
up all FAS services in the East of Ireland.  Following a restructuring he served as Head of HR and 
subsequently Director of the National Employment Service.  Upon retirement, he was elected as 
President of the European Vocational Training Association based in Brussels for a number of years. Donal 
holds a Bachelor of Commerce from UCD and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. 

 

John Olden – Honorary Treasurer 

John joined IWA Board in 2017. John is a Partner in Addleshaw Goddard (Ireland) LLP. His practice areas 
are mergers and acquisitions law, venture capital, capital markets, company, and partnership law. John 
was admitted as a solicitor in 1987. He achieved his BCL in 1983 and LLB in 1984 from University College 



I.W.A. COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE 
Operating under the registered name of Irish Wheelchair Association 
  

25  

Cork. 

Linda Ahern 

Linda was elected to the Board in 2019. Linda is a wheelchair user following her diagnosis of Multiple 
Sclerosis in 2011. Over the years she has been involved in several committees advocating for the rights 
of people with disabilities. Linda was delighted to see the United Nations Convention on Rights of People 
with Disabilities ratified in 2018 in Ireland. 

 

David Barry 

David was elected to the Board in May 2021 as a staff representative. He is the Irish Wheelchair 
Association youth service coordinator for the Dublin region (since 2010), running various services for 
teenagers and young adults. He has worked with the organisation since 2003 and previously in the 
Clontarf community centre as a programme assistant. He has a BA in Business and Finance and BSC in 
Social Care with Disability and is passionate about supporting IWA members to achieve goals and make 
real quality life gains. In his spare time, he loves to cycle, keep fit and spend time outdoors with his 
family. 

 

Kathleen Brady 

Kathleen joined the Board in 2014 and is a full‐time carer for her two children with special needs and 
also works part‐time as a carer for an elderly gentleman. She is a parent of three children. She qualified 
as a general nurse in Dr Steevens’ Hospital, Dublin in 1987. Kathleen is also involved in the Sunshine 
Children’s Club in IWA Athlone and also Athlone Special Olympics club.  

 
Michelle Byrne 

Michelle was elected as staff representative to the Board in 2019. Michelle started her career with IWA 
in 2004, working as a personal assistant in the ALS Service. In late 2005, she moved into the Finance 
Department and became Payroll Manager in 2010. Her role of Payroll Manager touches every sector of 
Irish Wheelchair Association, and she is dedicated to her role and team. Michelle is highly customer 
focused and prides herself on doing a job well, and this is reflected in the quality of her work and her 
positive attitude. 

 
Carmel Creaven 

Carmel joined the Board in May 2021. She lives on the outskirts of Tuam Co. Galway. Unfortunately, she 
was involved in an accident during a rugby match in 2017, resulting in her physical disability. Following 
a long recovery, Carmel became a participant in Irish Wheelchair Association’s Ability Programme, 
determined to start a career to support other people with physical disabilities. Carmel returned to 
college to train as a personal trainer, specialising in training people with disabilities by supporting them 
to achieve their goals. Carmel is constantly upskilling with Cara Sport Ireland to further her knowledge 
and expertise. She is now employed at a gym in Tuam and actively works to encourage workplaces 
throughout Ireland to be more inclusive of people of all abilities. 

 

Tom Doherty 

Tom was appointed to the Board in 2018. He has an incomplete spinal injury. Tom has over 20 years’ 
experience with mental health services working as a life skills instructor in a HSE rehabilitative training 
centre. Previously, he was a member of Killarney Town Council and had the honour to serve as Mayor. 
Tom is a community activist and is an advocate for disability rights. 
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Padraic Hayes 

Padraic was elected to the Board in 2018. Padraic graduated with a Masters in Marketing from Limerick 
Institute of Technology and has worked since then in administration and finance. He is the current 
Chairperson of the Clare Leader Forum, which is an independent group of people with disabilities which 
works to create a voice on disability issues in Clare. 

 

Dermot Murphy 

Dermot was appointed to the IWA Board in October 2020. Currently he is a self‐employed business 
advisor and non‐executive director. After qualifying as an accountant, he worked with KPMG before 
spending 20 years in the global food industry with both IAWS PLC and Aryzta. Dermot held senior 
positions in both Europe and North America culminating with his appointment as CEO for Aryzta Europe. 
He has extensive financial, management, governance, and strategic experience. Dermot is a Fellow of 
the Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA). 

 

Iqura Naseem 

Iqura joined the Board in May 2021. She lives in South Dublin. She recently graduated with an MA in 
Accounting from Maynooth University. She joined the Irish Wheelchair Association as a member in 
September 2018, and completed the Ability Programme in late 2020. She attends the IWA Lucan Centre. 
During her time in Maynooth University, she was an ambassador helping prospective students with 
barriers such as a disability to find out about third level. She believes that people with disabilities can 
achieve anything from having a good life to getting a degree and job, if given the accessibilities and 
opportunities. 

 

Jonathan O’Grady 

Jonathan joined the Board in May 2021 and is a recognised advocate on the subjects of independent 
living and disability rights. A lifelong wheelchair user, he currently serves as Chair of the IWA’s Leader 
Consultative Group and previously established SMA Ireland, focused on the treatment and care of people 
living with the genetic condition, Spinal Muscular Atrophy. Jonathan commenced his career as a 
commodity derivatives broker in London and then Geneva. He subsequently worked for investment 
companies in London and Dublin before joining the online bookmaker Flutter plc (Paddy Power Betfair). 
Since 2014, Jonathan has worked as a consultant for various businesses in the areas of business 
development, data analysis and corporate strategy. Jonathan has an MA in business and economics from 
Trinity College Dublin and an MBA from Harvard Business School 

 

Further profile details of the directors are provided on the IWA website at www.iwa.ie. 
 
 
  

http://www.iwa.ie/
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Membership of the Board of Directors during the year 

The membership of the Board during the year and up to the date of approval of the annual financial 
statements is set out below together with a report on attendance at board meetings in 2021.  There 
were seven board meetings in the year. 

Board 
attendance in 2021 

 
Breda Dwyer Retired 21 May 2021 3/3 
Martin Kelly  7/7 
Laura MacDermott  5/7 
Donal Sands  7/7 
John Olden  7/7 
Linda Ahern  4/7 
Kathleen Brady  6/7 
Michelle Byrne  7/7 
Katharine Deas Retired 7 May 2021 2/2 
Tom Doherty  4/7 
Declan Hamilton Retired 21 May 2021 3/3 
Padraic Hayes  6/7 
Michael Hickey Retired 21 May 2021 3/3 
Dermot Murphy  7/7 
Jonathan O’Grady Appointed 22 May 2021 4/4 
Iqura Naseem Appointed 22 May 2021 3/4 
Carmel Creaven Appointed 22 May 2021 2/4 
David Barry Appointed 22 May 2021 4/4 

 

Renewal of the Board of Directors 

An update to the Constitution was approved at the 2013 AGM so that directors who have served two 
consecutive terms must retire for at least one year. Since then, this provision has been implemented on 
a phased basis to ensure continuity while facilitating a gradual renewal of the Board. 

Where new directors are appointed by the Board, whether to fill a casual vacancy or as co‐opted directors, 
the Governance and Nominations Committee conducts a skills audit to determine the candidate profile 
followed by an external process of advertisement, interview, and selection. 

 

Best Practice Governance 

Irish Wheelchair Association operates to high standards of governance with a focus on continuous 
development and improvement. 
• The Board is fully compliant with the Charities Governance Code, and the organisation has 

completed a self‐assessment on and is compliant with the Internal Financial Controls Guidance for 
Charities and the Guidelines for Charitable Organisations on Fundraising from the Public as issued by 
the Charities Regulatory Authority.  The Governance Manual, which is updated regularly, sets out 
the key roles, responsibilities, and procedures for the Board, its Officers, and sub‐committees. 
Delegated authority levels and matters that are reserved for consideration by the Board are clearly 
defined. 

• The Board is fully compliant with Sport Ireland Governance Code for Sport and has recently 
completed the Compliance Record Form. 
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• Full induction is provided to new directors and formal training for all directors is provided on an annual 
basis. Directors conduct a programme of visits to IWA centres and activities throughout the year. 

• Potential conflicts of interest are addressed through individual declaration of interest returns and as 
an agenda item at the start of each Board meeting. 

 
Directors’ remuneration 

As a registered charity and in accordance with the Constitution, directors are not entitled to any 
remuneration for acting as a member of the Board. Actual out‐of‐pocket expenses are reimbursed, if 
claimed. None of the directors or secretary holds any beneficial interest in the company. 

 
Sub‐committees of the Board 

The Board is supported in its governance activities by the following sub‐committees. Each sub‐
committee operates under the terms of reference set out in the Governance Manual and reports to the 
Board on its activities. 

• Audit, Finance and Risk Committee: The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee reviews the financial 
performance of the company; liaises with External and Internal Auditors; appoints and instructs the 
Internal Auditors; and oversees the corporate risk register as well as all audit related issues. The 
Committee meets at least quarterly and, in accordance with best practice, is comprised of directors 
and external members.  The members of the Committee, and attendance at meetings in 2021  were: 

Attendance 2021 
John Olden (Chair) Director 5/5 
Martin Kelly Director 4/5 
Laura MacDermott Director 4/5 
Donal Sands Director 4/5 
William A Attley External member 4/5 
Paul Murray External member 4/5 

 

 

• Property Committee: The Property Committee advises the Board on property transactions and 
oversees all issues relating to the Property Register. The Committee met six times during the year 
and is comprised of directors and external members. The members of the Committee, and 
attendance at meetings in 2021 were: 

 
 Attendance 2021 
Dermot Murphy (Chair) Director 6/6 
Michelle Byrne Director 6/6 
Katharine Deas Director Retired 2/2 
Breda Dwyer Director Retired 2/2 
Padraic Hayes Director 3/6 
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• National Sports Executive Committee:  The National Sports Executive Committee is a subcommittee of 

the Board and manages the affairs of IWA Sport and meets a minimum of eight times annually. The 
IWA‐Sport AGM was held virtually on 8 May 2021. The members of the Committee, and attendance at 
meetings in 2021 were: 
 
 

  Attendance 2021 
Tom Doherty (Chair) Director   11/12 
Adrian Donoghue (Secretary) External Member 10/12 
Iqura Naseem (Treasurer)  Director  5/6 
Deirdre Mongan External Member  8/12 
Ciara Staunton External Member  10/12 
Mary Brannigan External Member  11/12 
Laura McDermott Director  11/12 
   
   

 

 

• Governance Committee: The Governance Committee oversees the update of the Governance 
Manual and advises the Board on all matters relating to best practice governance in IWA. The 
Committee met once in 2021. In October 2021 this Committee was merged with the Nominations 
Committee. The members of the Committee, and attendance at meetings in 2021  were: 
 

  Attendance 2021 
Michael Hickey (Chair) Director Retired 1/1 
Martin Kelly Director 1/1 
Declan Hamilton Director Retired 1/1 
Eileen O'Mahony External Member 1/1 

 

 
 
• Remuneration Committee: The Remuneration Committee advises the Board on all matters relating 

to senior staff remuneration. It meets as required and at least once in each year. The members of 
the Committee, and attendance at meetings in 2021 were: 

 
 Attendance 2021 
Martin Kelly (Chair)   Director 2/2 
Michael Hickey   Director Retired 0/0 
Donal Sands   Director 2/2 
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• Nominations Committee: The Nominations Committee assist the Board in assessing the skills and 

experience required to renew the Board and its sub‐committees, to oversee the recruitment and 
selection process and to make recommendations to the Board.  The Committee meets as required 
and at least once in each year.  In October 2021 this Committee was merged with the Governance 
Committee. The members of the Committee, and attendance in 2021 were: 

 
  Attendance 2021 
Martin Kelly (Chair)   Director 2/2 
John Olden   Director 2/2 
   

 

• Governance and Nominations Committee: In October 2021 the Board agreed to merge the 
Governance Committee and the Nominations Committee. The committee oversees the update of 
the Governance Manual, advises the Board on all matters relating to best practice governance in 
IWA, assists the Board in assessing the skills and experience required to renew the Board and its 
sub‐committees and oversees the recruitment and selection process and makes recommendations 
to the Board. The Committee meets as required and at least once a year. The members of the 
Committee, and attendance in 2021 were: 

 
  Attendance 2021 
Martin Kelly (Chair)   Director 1/1 
John Olden   Director 1/1 
Eileen O’Mahony   External Member 1/1 
David Barry   Director 0/0 
Iqura Naseem   Director 0/0 

 

Risk management and risks 
 
Risk management 

IWA has a risk management strategy which comprises: a risk register which is updated annually by 
management, approved by the Board and reviewed quarterly by the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee; 
the establishment of policies, systems and procedures to mitigate those risks identified in the quarterly 
review; and the implementation of procedures designed to minimise or manage any potential impact on 
the company should those risks materialise. 

 
Principal risks and uncertainties 

The major operational risks centre on the consistent delivery of quality services to people with disabilities 
in a safe environment for both the individual and Irish Wheelchair Association staff and these risks are 
addressed through comprehensive training as well as documented policies and procedures and a 
constant focus on quality. The major financial risks include management of resources and cashflow, as 
the organisation works towards its strategic objective of long‐term financial sustainability and resilience, 
and these risks are managed through the organisation’s financial systems and processes with the 
oversight of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee and the Board. 

The impact of Covid‐19 was added to the risk register in March 2020, taking into consideration the impact 
on services and service delivery, health and safety for service users and staff, and financial impact on 
Irish Wheelchair Association activities and overall financial sustainability. 
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Other Information 

Compliance Statement 

The directors are responsible for securing material compliance with all relevant obligations as defined 
under Section 225 of the Companies Act, 2014. Irish Wheelchair Association has a formal compliance 
policy statement that sets out all its policies in respect of the relevant obligations and has put in place 
arrangements and structures to provide reasonable assurance of compliance. The directors review the 
effectiveness of these arrangements and structures on an annual basis. 

 
Accounting Records 

The measures taken by the directors to ensure compliance with the requirements of Sections 281 to 285 
of the Companies Act 2014, with regard to the keeping of accounting records, are the employment of 
appropriately qualified accounting personnel and the maintenance of computerised accounting systems. 
The company's accounting records are maintained at the company's registered office. 

 
Statement on Relevant Audit Information 

In the case of each of the persons who are directors at the time this report is approved in accordance with 
Section 332 of the Companies Act 2014, so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the company’s statutory auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the 
steps that he or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s statutory auditors are aware of that 
information. 

 
Taxation Status 

I.W.A. Company Limited by Guarantee has been granted charitable status under Sections 207 and 208 
of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997. 

 
Auditors 

Mazars is eligible and has expressed a willingness to continue in office in accordance with Section 383(2) 
of the Companies Act 2014. 

 
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 

 

Martin Kelly 

Martin Kelly, Chairperson  

 

John Olden 

John Olden, Honorary Treasurer 

 

Date: 07 April 2022 

 

 

 
 



I.W.A. COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE 
Operating under the registered name of Irish Wheelchair Association 
  

32  

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Director’s Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with Irish Law and regulations.  

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under 
the law, the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2014, FRS 102 “ The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council and The Statement of Recommended Practice 
(Charities SORP (FRS 102)), issued by the Charity Commission for England and Wales, the Charity 
Commission for Northern Ireland and the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator. 

Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at the 
financial year end date and of the net income or expenditure of the company for the financial year and 
otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014. 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to: 

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• State whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any 
material departure from those standards; and 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate 
accounting records which correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any 
time the assets, liabilities, financial position and net income or expenditure of the company to be 
determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be audited.  They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the company’s website.  Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 

 
 
Martin Kelly 
Martin Kelly, Chairperson 
 
 
John Olden 
John Olden, Honorary Treasurer 

 

Date: 07 April 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF I.W.A. COMPANY LIMITED BY 
GUARANTEE 

 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of I.W.A. Company Limited by Guarantee for the year ended 
31 December 2021, which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, 
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes, including the summary of significant accounting 
policies set out in note 2. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is Irish Law and FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland issued in the United Kingdom by the Financial Reporting Council (FRS 102). 

 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as at 
31 December 2021 and of its surplus for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014. 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs 
(Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard for Auditors (Ireland) issued 
by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 

34 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF I.W.A. COMPANY LIMITED BY 
GUARANTEE (continued) 

 
 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014 

Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that: 

• in our opinion, the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial 
statements;  

• in our opinion, the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014; 
• the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be 

readily and properly audited; and 
• the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records. 

 
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes 
of our audit.    

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Based on the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the directors' report.  
 
The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions required by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made. We have nothing 
to report in this regard. 

Respective responsibilities 

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 32, the directors 
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF I.W.A. COMPANY LIMITED BY 
GUARANTEE (continued) 

 

Respective responsibilities (continued) 

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements (continued) 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
IAASA's website at: http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
a98202dc9c3a/Description of auditors responsibilities for audit.pdf . This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 
 
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of 
the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
 
Aedín Morkan   
 
Aedín Morkan  
for and on behalf of Mazars 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm 
Harcourt Centre 
Block 3 
Harcourt Road 
Dublin 2 
 
Date: 7 April 2022 
 

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description
http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES             
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Incorporating the Income and Expenditure Account)       

  
Restricted 
Operating 

Funds 
 

Unrestricted 
Operating 

Funds 
 

Designated 
Operating 

Funds 
 

Total 
Operating 

Funds  
 

Restricted 
Fixed Asset 

Funds 
 Total 2021  Total 2020 

  €  €  €  €  €  €  € 
 Notes              

Income from:               

Donations and legacies 3 100,000  431,751  -  531,751  -  531,751  328,000 
Charitable activities 4 56,637,650  4,481,059  -  61,118,709  1,407,820  62,526,529  58,948,488 
Other trading activities 5 -  909,353  367,754  1,277,107  139,531  1,416,638  1,355,257 
Investments 6 -  304  -  304  -  304  469 
Total  56,737,650  5,822,467  367,754  62,927,871  1,547,351  64,475,222  60,632,214 

               
Expenditure on:               

Raising funds 7 -  1,119,517  997  1,120,514  -  1,120,514  1,415,868 
Charitable activities 8 55,806,872  4,141,087  142,017  60,089,976  1,461,943  61,551,919  59,514,023 
Total  55,806,872  5,260,604  143,014  61,210,490  1,461,943  62,672,433  60,929,891 

                      
Net income / (expenditure)  930,778  561,863  224,740  1,717,381  85,408  1,802,789  (297,677) 

               
Transfer between funds  83,972  6,448  (108,588)  (18,168)  18,168  -  - 

                      
Net movement in funds  1,014,750  568,311  116,152  1,699,213  103,576  1,802,789  (297,677) 

               
Total funds at 1 January  959,762  4,034,976  1,476,472  6,471,210  14,716,158  21,187,368  21,485,045 
Total funds at 31 December 20 1,974,512  4,603,287  1,592,624  8,170,423  14,819,734  22,990,157  21,187,368 

               
There were no other recognised gains or losses in the current or prior year other than those included in the Statement of Financial Activities.  All income and expenditure 
derive from continuing activities.  All income is derived from activities undertaken in the Republic of Ireland. The notes on pages 39 to 57 form part of these financial 
statements.  
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BALANCE SHEET 
 
       
At 31 December 2021       
 

      
 

 
Notes  31 

December 
 31 

December 
    2021  2020 
    €  € 

FIXED ASSETS       

Tangible assets  13  14,865,767  15,506,488 
Investment  19  3  3 

    14,865,770  15,506,491 
CURRENT ASSETS       

Debtors  14  4,133,472  4,536,604 
Cash and cash equivalents  15  16,102,533  10,588,843 

    20,236,005  15,125,447 
       

CREDITORS      

Amounts falling due within one year 16  (12,111,618)  (9,444,570) 
       

NET CURRENT ASSETS    8,124,387  5,680,877 
        

TOTAL NET ASSETS    22,990,157  21,187,368 
        

FUNDS       

Restricted funds  20  1,974,512  959,762 
Unrestricted funds  20  4,603,287  4,034,976 
Designated funds  20  1,592,624  1,476,472 
Restricted fixed asset funds  20  14,819,734  14,716,158 

        

TOTAL FUNDS    22,990,157  21,187,368 

       
 

The notes on pages 39 to 57 form part of these financial statements.  
 
 
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 07 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
        
 
Martin Kelly                               John Olden 
Martin Kelly           John Olden              
Chairperson       Honorary Treasurer   
             
   
          
07 April 2022  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2021     

     
 Notes 2021  2020 
  €  € 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Net income / (expenditure) for the year  1,802,789  (297,677) 

     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation 13 1,706,390  1,786,749 
Deposit interest income 6 (304)  (469) 
Disposal of tangible fixed assets   (18,043)  675,621 
Decrease in stocks  -  61,868 
Decrease in debtors  403,132  236,943 
Increase in creditors  2,667,048  1,655,931 

     

Net cash provided by operating activities  6,561,012  4,118,966 
     

Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of fixed assets   (1,074,548)  (777,895) 
Deposit interest income  304  469 
Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets  26,922  40,758 

     

Net cash used in activities  (1,047,322)  (736,668) 
     

Cash flows from financing activities     
Repayment of borrowings  -  (645,982) 

     

 Cash used in financing activities -  (645,982) 
     

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  5,513,690  2,736,316 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year  10,588,843  7,852,527 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year          15 16,102,533  10,588,843 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. General Information 
These financial statements comprising the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the 
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 28 constitute the consolidated financial statements 
of Irish Wheelchair Association, “IWA”, “charity”, “company” and its subsidiary undertaking, Ability 
Consultancy Training, for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.  

IWA is a private company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Ireland 
and is a registered charity. The company is a public benefit entity. The registered office and principal 
place of business is Áras Chúchulainn, Blackheath Drive, Clontarf, Dublin 3. The nature of the 
company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

 
Statement of compliance  
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). The financial statements have also 
been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) (FRS 102) 
“Accounting and Reporting by Charities”.   

 
Currency 
The financial statements have been presented in Euro (€) which is also the functional currency of the 
company.  

2. Accounting Policies 
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the company’s financial statements. 

  

Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with the 
historical cost convention modified to include certain items at fair value. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 2014, FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (Charities SORP (FRS102)) as published by the Charity Commission for 
England and Wales, the Charity Commission for Northern Ireland and the Office of the Scottish Charity 
Regulator which is recognised by the UK Financial Reporting Council (FRC) as the appropriate body to 
issue SORPs for the charity sector in the UK. Financial reporting in line with SORP is considered best 
practice for charities in Ireland. As noted above, the directors consider that the adoption of the SORP 
requirements is the most appropriate accounting to properly reflect and disclose the activities of the 
organisation. 

 
Income  
All income is included in the Statement of Financial Activities when the company is entitled to the income, 
the amount can be measured with reasonable accuracy and receipt is probable. The following specific 
policies are applied to categories of income: 
 
Grant and service income: Grants from public authorities and other agencies in Ireland are credited to 
the Statement of Financial Activities in the year to which they relate. Grants received towards capital 
expenditure are credited to the Statement of Financial Activities when received or receivable whichever 
is earlier. Grants are recognised when there is evidence of entitlement and their receipt is probable. 
Grant income is deferred where the charity is restricted by specific performance related conditions that 
are evident in the grant agreement, where there is a specification of a time period that limits the charity’s 
ability to spend the grant until it has performed that activity related to the specified time period and when 
there are specific terms or conditions within the agreement that have not been met and are not within 
the control of the charity. 

 
Fundraising Income: Fundraising income is credited to the Statement of Financial Activities in the year 
in which it is receivable by the company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 
 
2 Accounting policies ‐continued 

 
Donations and legacies: Voluntary income including donations, gifts and legacies are recognised 
where there is entitlement, receipt is probable, and the amount can be measured with sufficient 
reliability.  Such income is only deferred when the donor specifies that the grant or donation must only 
be used in future accounting periods or the donors have imposed conditions which must be met before 
the charity has unconditional entitlement. 

 
Investment Income: Income earned on funds held on deposit is treated as unrestricted income and is 
credited when earned. 

 
Donated services and facilities: Donated professional services and donated facilities are recognised 
as income when the charity has control over the item, any conditions associated with the donated item 
have been met, the receipt of economic benefit from the use by the charity of the item is probable and 
that economic benefit can be measured reliably. In accordance with Charities SORP (FRS 102), general 
volunteer time is not recognised. On receipt, donated professional services and donated facilities are 
recognised on the basis of the value of the gift to the charity which is the amount the charity would have 
been willing to pay to obtain services or facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open market, a 
corresponding amount is then recognised in expenditure in the period of receipt. 

 
Expenditure 
Expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis as a liability is incurred and is recorded as part of the 
expenditure to which it relates. Cost of raising funds comprises the costs associated with attracting 
voluntary income and the costs of trading for fundraising purposes including the charity’s shops.  
Expenditure on charitable activities are those costs incurred by the charity in the delivery of its services 
for its beneficiaries. It includes both costs that can be allocated directly to such activities and those costs 
of an indirect nature necessary to support them. Governance costs include those costs associated with 
meeting the constitutional and statutory requirements of the charity.  Where costs cannot be directly 
attributed, they have been allocated in proportion to estimated benefits received. 

Support costs arise from those functions that assist the work of the charity but do not directly undertake 
charitable activities. Support costs include Finance, Human Resources, ICT, Procurement, 
Administration, Property Management, Training, Health & Safety, Quality Assurance, Safeguarding and 
Customer Care and Board of Director costs. Costs are charged to each service and activity in proportion 
to direct expenditure, which is considered to reflect estimated benefits received. Costs are not allocated 
to designated or fixed asset funds.  
 
Tangible Fixed Assets  
Tangible fixed assets currently in use in furtherance of the charity’s objectives are stated in the balance 
sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation. A small number of assets not currently in use in furtherance 
of the charity’s objectives are stated at the lower of cost less accumulated depreciation and net market 
value. Depreciation is provided on tangible assets, with the exception of land, so as to write off the cost 
less estimated residual value of each asset over its expected useful economic life on a straight-line basis 
at the following annual rates: 

 
Land & Buildings - Leasehold property   Over term of lease 
Land & Buildings - Freehold buildings   4% per annum 
Motor vehicles  20% per annum 
Fixtures, fittings and equipment  20% to 33.3% per annum 

 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
Taxation and deferred taxation 
The entity is a registered charity (CHY number 5393). All of its activities are exempt from direct taxation. 

 

Employee benefits 
IWA provides a range of benefits to employees, including paid holiday arrangements and defined 
contribution pension plans. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 
 
2 Accounting policies ‐continued 

 
Short term benefits 
Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the service is received. A liability is recognised to the extent of any 
unused holiday pay entitlement, which is accrued at the Balance Sheet date and carried forward to 
future periods. This is measured at the undiscounted salary cost of the future holiday entitlement and 
accrued at the Balance Sheet date.  
 
Defined contribution pension plans 
The company operates two occupational pension schemes, being a defined contribution pension 
scheme and a personal retirement savings account (PRSA) scheme. Pension benefits are funded over 
the employees’ period of service by way of contributions from the company and from employees. 
Employer contributions are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in the year in which they 
become payable. 
 
Operating Leases 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
Provisions and liabilities for charges 
Provision is made for liabilities or losses which have arisen or are likely to arise in respect of the financial 
year to which the accounts relate but where there is uncertainty as to the amount or the timing of the 
liability or loss. 
 

Sinking fund 
As an approved housing body, Irish Wheelchair Association previously signed up to Building for the 
Future – A Voluntary Regulation Code for Approved Housing Bodies in Ireland which requires 
ringfencing of housing related income for the maintenance and management of housing, the 
commissioning of independent stock condition surveys, the adoption of a Housing Sinking Fund Policy, 
and the establishment of a housing sinking fund for the long-term maintenance of IWA housing stock. 
The organisation’s sinking fund policy is to maintain a sinking fund for the long-term maintenance of 
housing stock, to cover at least the higher of either: 
(a) Two years average planned expenditure as per the latest housing stock conditions survey reports 

or  
(b) Any identified shortfall based on 30-year financial projections (including key assumptions). 

 
With the appointment of the Approved Housing Body Regulatory Authority (AHBRA) on a statutory 
footing in 2021, and new standards being recently published in February 2022, Irish Wheelchair 
Association will revisit the sinking fund policy during 2022. 
 
Charity’s funds 
 
Restricted Funds and Restricted Fixed Asset Funds: Restricted funds and Restricted Fixed Asset 
funds are funds received which can only be used for particular purposes specified by the donors and 
are binding on the company. Such purposes are within the overall aims of the company. 
 
Unrestricted Funds: Unrestricted funds are those which are expendable at the discretion of the 
company in furtherance of any of the charitable objects of the organisation. The company has long-term 
obligations in respect of the provision of services and has a policy of retaining sufficient unrestricted 
reserves to safeguard the continuity of its operations and to implement its current strategic plan. If part 
of an unrestricted fund is earmarked for a particular project, it may be designated as a separate fund, 
but the designation has an administrative purpose only, and does not legally restrict the company’s 
discretion to apply the fund.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 
 
2 Accounting policies ‐continued 

 
Designated funds: Designated funds consist primarily of fundraising, which was raised for a 
particular project and is utilised at the discretion of the Board for those projects.  
 
Financial Instruments: The analysis of the carrying amounts of the financial instruments of the 
company required under Section 11 of FRS 102 is as follows: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents: Cash consists of cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents 
consist of short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash that 
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
Other financial assets: Other financial assets, including grant and service income receivable and other 
debtors, are initially measured at cost, which is normally the transaction price, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost less impairment, where there is objective evidence of impairment. 
 
Other financial liabilities: Other financial liabilities, including trade creditors and accruals, are 
measured at transaction price, unless payment is deferred beyond normal business terms or is financed 
at a rate of interest that is not a market rate. In this case the arrangement constitutes a financing 
transaction, and the financial liability is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted 
at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument. 
 
Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income, and expenses. Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates 
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 
Going concern: The directors have prepared budgets and cash flows for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date of approval of the financial statements which demonstrate that there is no material 
uncertainty regarding the company’s ability to meet its liabilities as they fall due, and to continue as a 
going concern. The assessment performed is based on a number of key judgements and assumptions 
including: public funding will continue at a level similar to 2021 for the remainder of 2022 and will 
continue into 2023; services will continue to be delivered and the organisation will continue to manage 
costs where possible. 

 
On the basis of the assessments and the underlying assumptions the directors consider it appropriate 
to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Accordingly, these financial statements 
do not include any adjustments to the carrying amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that 
may arise if the company was unable to continue as a going concern. 

 
Establishing useful lives for depreciation purposes of tangible fixed assets: Long-lived assets, 
consisting primarily of property, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles, comprise a significant portion of 
the total assets. The annual depreciation charge depends primarily on the estimated lives of each type 
of asset and estimates of residual values. The directors regularly review these asset lives and change 
them as necessary to reflect current thinking on remaining lives in light of prospective economic 
utilisation and physical condition of the assets concerned. Changes in asset lives can have a significant 
impact on depreciation charges for the period. Details of the useful lives are included in the accounting 
policies. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

3. Donations and Legacies 
     2021  2020 

     €  € 
Restricted funds: Restricted Legacy   100,000  - 
Unrestricted funds: Donations and legacies  431,751  328,000 

     531,751  328,000 

4. Income from Charitable Activities 
 
 

     
 

 2021  2020 
Restricted funds:   €  € 

 Health Service Executive (a) 50,679,371  46,896,878 
 DSP Community Employment Scheme (b) 4,814,378  5,548,117 
 Sport Ireland, Pobal and other grants  1,143,901  1,093,698 
  56,637,650  53,538,693 

Unrestricted funds:      

 Service and other income (c)  4,481,059  4,415,844 
     

Restricted fixed asset funds:    

 DOE Capital Assistance Scheme – Kilkenny 209,470  202,097 
 DOE Capital Assistance Scheme - Mayo -  15,586 
 CLÁR Programme 176,633  - 
 Other Capital Funding 1,021,717  776,268 

 
 1,407,820  993,951 

 
 62,526,529  58,948,488 

        

(a) IWA receives funding from the HSE as a “Section 39 organisation” towards delivering a wide range 
of services including Assisted Living Services, Community Centres, Respite and Supported Living. 

(b) The Department of Social Protection Community Employment Scheme enables IWA to employ 294 
staff as a vital support to the national network of Community Centres. 

(c) As an independent charity and a “Section 39 organisation”, IWA generates income from a variety 
of sources to maintain its services including voluntary contributions, rental, and other locally 
generated income as well as income from parking permit services and IWA at Home. Income 
generated by IWA is classified as Unrestricted Funds. 

(d) Most of the income received during the year originates in the Republic of Ireland. 
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5.  Other Trading activities 
  2021  2020 
Unrestricted funds: €  € 

 Fundraising campaigns and events 182,306  271,235 
 Income from IWA Charity Shops 727,047  625,466 
  909,353  896,701 

Designated funds:      

 Fundraising income for designated projects 243,024  184,394 
 IWA Branches & Sports Clubs 124,730  116,492 
  367,754  300,886 

Fixed asset funds:      

 Fundraising income for capital projects 139,531  157,670 
  1,416,638  1,355,257 

 

Fundraising income is generated from fundraising events, online campaigns, church gate and other 
collections and IWA monthly draw. IWA has a network of 14 Charity Shops nationally. 

 

6. Investment Income 
  2021  2020 

  €  € 
Bank Deposit Interest Income 304  469 

  304  469 
 

7.     Cost of Raising funds 
  2021  2020 

  €  € 
Fundraising campaigns and events  474,094  733,656 
Operating costs of IWA Charity Shops 645,423  678,956 
IWA Branches and Sports Clubs   997  3,256 

  1,120,514  1,415,868 
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   NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

8. Expenditure on Charitable Activities 
   2021  2020 

  €  € 
   Restricted funds:   

 
 

 

 Assisted Living Service 33,038,232  31,147,563 

 Community Centres 17,189,926  16,720,623 

 All other services and charitable activities 5,578,714  5,005,121 

 
 55,806,872  52,873,307 

Unrestricted funds:      

 All other services and charitable activities 4,141,087  4,276,582 
 Designated funds:      

 IWA Branches & Sports Clubs 142,017  164,723 
 Restricted fixed asset fund:      

 Utilisation of capital grants 1,461,943  1,523,788 
 Disposal of fixed assets -  675,623 

  1,461,943  2,199,411 
  61,551,919  59,514,023 

 
IWA’s largest service is the Assisted Living Service with 1.25m hours of personal assistance provided to 
2,099 people with disabilities in 2021. The Community Centres operate at 58 locations nationwide delivering 
89,324 days of service to 2,587 people. Other services and activities include holidays and respite; 
independent and supported living; motoring advice, assessment and tuition; rehabilitative training; sports, 
accessibility and member information and support. 

9. Net Income / (Expenditure)  
 2021  2020 

 €  € 
Net income / (expenditure) is stated after charging / 
(crediting):    
Directors’ remuneration – for services as directors  -  - 
Directors’ remuneration – for staff services  126,290  136,334 
Depreciation of tangible assets  1,706,390  1,786,749 
Disposal of tangible fixed assets (18,043)  675,621 
Auditor’s remuneration – for external audit services 33,825  33,275 
Auditor’s remuneration – audit of DSP CE Schemes  6,335  6,695 
Auditor’s remuneration – tax compliance services 923  923 
Auditor’s remuneration – tax advisory services 8,753  9,840 
Auditor’s remuneration – other non-audit services 3,931   - 

 

As explained in Note 12(b), members of the board of directors do not receive remuneration for their 
services as directors. Two directors, elected by staff to the board, are employees of the company, for 
which they receive salaries as shown above; however, they do not receive remuneration for their 
services as directors. 

10. Taxation 
 
No charge to taxation arises as the company has been granted charitable exemption by the Revenue 
Commissioners. IWA’s only subsidiary, Ability Consultancy Training Limited, is not itself a registered 
charity and incurred a corporation tax charge of €6 in 2021 (2020: tax charge of €7). 
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  NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

11. Employee and Staff Costs 
 

IWA employed an average of 2,071 people in 2021.  Most staff work directly in frontline services, as 
Personal Assistants in the Assisted Living Service or directly supporting the Community Centres, 
respite, sports, and other activities.  There were no staff costs capitalised into assets. 

 
(a) Number of employees    2021  2020 
Average number of people employed (full-time and part-time) 2,071  2,139 
Employees by category Management  10  9 

   Central Services  64  64 
   Fundraising and Charity Shops 28  32 
   IWA Services - DSP CE Scheme 294  345 
   IWA Services - all other employees 1,675  1,689 

 
 
(b) Total staff costs   2021  2020 

   €  € 
Wages and salaries   47,053,160  45,528,671 
Social welfare costs   4,474,553  4,116,842 
Statutory redundancy and termination costs   96,379  211,019 
Pension costs   461,502  369,700 

   52,085,594  50,226,232 
 

(c) Staff remuneration  2021  2020 

The number of staff earning basic salaries (excluding the 
benefits and pension costs outlined below) over €60,000 is:    

Band:    €60,000 - €69,999  13  12 
Band:    €70,000 - €79,999  3  3 
Band:    €80,000 - €89,999  3  3 
Band:    €90,000 - €99,999  1  3 
Band:    €100,000 - €109,999  4  1 
Band:    €110,000 - €119,999  1  2 
Band:    €120,000 - €129,999  1  - 
Band:    €130,000 - €139,999  -  - 
Band:    €140,000 - €149,999  -  - 
Band:    €150,000 - €159,999  1  1 

  27  25 
 
The Board has decided that the CEO’s salary should be aligned with the salary of the Civil Service Assistant 
Secretary pay scale. On this basis Rosemary Keogh is currently paid €154,775 per annum. 
 
All other IWA staff including senior management are remunerated in line with HSE pay scales, however full 
HSE terms, conditions and benefits do not apply. Salary levels are based on the equivalent grade in the 
HSE and were set following an independent job-sizing and benchmarking study. Senior managers, who are 
required to travel as part of their role, receive vouched expenses and either a car allowance or a company 
car or mileage in line with Revenue approved rates. There are no subsistence payments or unvouched 
expense payments. Senior managers have access to health cover at ‘Health Plus Extra’ level and access 
to the company’s defined contribution pension scheme with an employer’s contribution of up to 8% and an 
employee contribution of 5%. All remuneration and benefits are fully taxable, with the exception of pension 
contributions, in line with Revenue rules. The Remuneration Committee of the Board oversees all matters 
relating to senior staff remuneration.  

 
     (d) Key management remuneration 

Key management personnel are set out on page 4 and are the CEO and senior management team for 
whom the total remuneration cost was €1,271,278 in 2021 (€1,101,638 in 2020). This cost includes car  
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 
  
 11. Employee and Staff Costs ‐ Continued 
 

allowances in lieu of mileage expenses, health cover and employer pension contributions of €80,402 (2020: 
€65,136), all as outlined in note (c) above. 

 
(e) Pension costs 
All IWA staff are eligible to join one of the two occupational pension schemes which the company operates, 
being a defined contribution pension scheme and a personal retirement savings account (PRSA) scheme. 
The defined contribution pension scheme has employer contributions of 5-8% and employee contributions 
of 5% and the cost of employer pension contributions in 2021 was €461,502 (2020: €369,700).   

12. Support Costs and Allocation of Expenditure 
 

IWA operates a single National Central Services function to support the delivery of all services and activities 
across the country. Central Services includes Finance, Human Resources, ICT, Procurement, 
Administration, Property Management, Training, Health and Safety, Quality Assurance, Safeguarding, 
Customer Care and Board of Directors costs. Support costs also include governance costs as outlined below. 
Costs are charged to each service and activity in proportion to direct expenditure, which is considered to 
reflect estimated benefits received. Costs are not allocated to designated funds or fixed asset funds.  
 

(a) Allocation of expenditure      
      
For the year ended 31 December 2021     

 

Charitable 
Activities 

 
Cost of Raising 

Funds 

 
Total 

Expenditure 

 €  €  € 
Direct Expenditure 55,082,723  1,019,887  56,102,610 
Allocation of support costs 4,865,236  99,630  4,964,866 
Total resources expended 59,947,959  1,119,517  61,067,476 

      
For the year ended 31 December 2020     

 

Charitable 
Activities 

 
Cost of Raising 

Funds 

 
Total 

Expenditure 

 €  €  € 
Direct Expenditure 52,796,634  1,285,893  54,082,527 
Allocation of support costs 4,353,255  126,719  4,479,974 
Total resources expended 57,149,889  1,412,612  58,562,501 

 
 

(b)  Governance Costs 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 

External audit  33,825  33,275 
Tax Consulting 8,753  9,840 
Reimbursed Directors' expenses -  460 
Internal Audit  10,000  - 
Other Board of Directors governance costs 31,968  6,586 
Annual general meeting and annual accounts  13,644  29,247 

 98,190  79,408 
 

Members of the Board of Directors do not receive remuneration for their services as directors. Expenses 
directly incurred by the directors in carrying out their role are reimbursed, if claimed.  
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  NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

13. Tangible Fixed Assets 
 
 

 

Land & 
Buildings 

 
Fixtures, 
Fittings & 
Equipment 

 
Motor 

Vehicles 

 
Total 

 
€ 

 
€ 

 
€ 

 
€ 

Costs 
       

At 1 January 2021 27,032,403 
 

2,351,177 
 

5,426,319 
 

34,809,899 
Additions 365,443 

 
- 

 
709,105 

 
1,074,548 

Disposals - 
 

- 
 

(535,932) 
 

(535,932) 

 
       

At 31 December 2021 27,397,846 
 

2,351,177 
 

5,599,492 
 

35,348,515 

 
       

Depreciation 
       

At 1 January 2021 13,002,311 
 

2,295,627 
 

4,005,473 
 

19,303,411 
Disposals - 

 
- 

 
(527,053) 

 
(527,053) 

Charge for the year 1,134,131 
 

41,229 
 

531,030 
 

1,706,390 

 
       

At 31 December 2021 14,136,442 
 

2,336,856 
 

4,009,450 
 

20,482,748 

 
       

Net Book Value 
       

At 31 December 2021 13,261,404 
 

14,321 
 

1,590,042 
 

14,865,767 

At 31 December 2020 14,030,092 
 

55,550 
 

1,420,846 
 

15,506,488 
 
 
 

 

14. Debtors 
 

        
     2021  2020 

     €  € 
Grant and service income receivable   4,052,623  4,340,064 
Prepayments and other debtors   80,849  196,540 

     4,133,472  4,536,604 

        
All debtors are due withing one year. All trade debtors are due within the company’s normal terms, which is 
thirty days. Trade debtors are shown net of impairment in respect of doubtful debts. 
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15. Cash and cash Equivalents 
 

 
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents     
     2021  2020 

     €  € 
IWA cash and cash equivalents   15,257,886  9,725,911 
IWA Branches and Sports Clubs cash and cash equivalents 844,647  862,932 

     16,102,533  10,588,843 
 

 
Total cash and cash equivalents comprise of designated Branches and Sports Clubs of €0.8m (2020: 
€0.9m), other designated funds of €0.8m (2020: €0.6m), restricted fixed asset funds €1.7m (2020: €0.4m), 
restricted legacy of €0.3m (2020: €0.2m), deferred income of €4.4m (2020: €2.6m), other restricted funds 
of €2.6m (2020: €1.5m) and unrestricted operating funds of €5.5m (2020: €4.4m). The increase in 
unrestricted operating funds was due to more effective debtor and creditor management and timing of the 
receipt of funds late in 2021.  
 
 

(b) Movement in Net Debt      
      

 

At 1 
January 

2021  
Net Cash 

Flows  

At 31 
December 

2021 
 €  €  € 

Cash in hand 9,725,911  5,531,975  15,257,886 
Cash held by branches and clubs 862,932  (18,285)  844,647 

      
Total 10,588,843  5,513,690  16,102,533 

 
 

16. Creditors (amounts falling due within one year) 
 
 
 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 

Creditors and accruals  5,775,188  5,172,890 
Payroll taxes  1,708,846  1,512,138 
Housing Association Sinking Fund (Note 17) 209,172  206,072 
Deferred income (Note 18) 4,418,412  2,553,470 
    

 12,111,618  9,444,570 
 

Trade creditors and accruals are payable at various dates in the next 12 months in accordance with the 
suppliers’ usual terms and conditions. Payroll taxes are repayable at various dates over the coming months 
in accordance with the applicable statutory provisions. 
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  NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

17. Sinking Fund 
     2021  2020 

     €  € 
At 1 January 2021    206,072  136,219 
Utilised during the year    (18,990)  (25,823) 
Allocated to fund during the year   22,090  95,676 
At 31 December 2021    209,172  206,072 

 

18. Deferred Income 
     2021  2020 

     €  € 
At 1 January 2021    2,553,470  1,886,973 
Credited to Statement of Financial Activities (1,604,059)  (1,488,066) 
Deferred during the year      3,469,001  2,154,563 
At 31 December 2021   4,418,412  2,553,470 

 
 

Deferred income relates to: funding advances of €0.8m (2020: €0.9m) received under the Department 
of Social Protection Community Employment Scheme in accordance with the standard terms of that 
Scheme; deferred grant income of €3.0m (2020: €1.2m), which has been deferred on the basis that they 
are performance related grants and funding is contingent on delivery of a particular level of service; 
Sport Ireland funding of €0.4m (2020: €0.3m) which has been deferred on the basis that they are 
performance related grants and funding is contingent on delivery of a particular level of service; and 
other funding of €0.2m (2020: €0.1m) being included in deferred income at year end.   

19. Investment 
     2021  2020 

     €  € 
Investments in subsidiary undertaking (at cost):    
Ability Consultancy Training Limited     
Ordinary shares of €1.27 each, at beginning and end of year 3  3 
    

 
 

IWA has one wholly owned subsidiary, Ability Consultancy Training Limited, incorporated in Ireland 
(company number 225160). This is a fully integrated operation within IWA, which provides training in 
specialist skills related to the provision of services to people with disabilities. The financial results, which 
are consolidated in these financial statements, are set out below. Information required under Section 314 
of the Companies Act 2014 is as follows: 

 
  

Nature of business:  Provision of training services  
Registered office:  Áras Chúchulainn, Blackheath Drive, Clontarf, Dublin 3 
Country of Incorporation:  Republic of Ireland  
Proportion of holding: 100% 

 
 

     2021  2020 
     €  € 

Profit after taxation for the 
year   44  53 
Shareholders' funds at 31 December  1,661  1,617 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

20. Movement of Funds 
 

 

       
Restricted 
operating 

funds  

Unrestricted 
operating 

funds  

Designated 
operating 

funds  

Total 
operating 

funds   

Restricted 
fixed asset 

funds  

Total 2021 
 
      

Current Year € € € € € €   
  

 
  

      
 

            

Opening funds at 1 January  959,762  4,034,976  1,476,472  6,471,210  14,716,158  21,187,368 
Income 56,737,650  5,822,467  367,754  62,927,871  1,547,351  64,475,222 
Expenditure (55,806,872)  (5,260,604)  (143,014)  (61,210,490)  (1,461,943)  (62,672,433) 
Transfers from designated funds 83,972  6,448  (108,588)  (18,168)  18,168  - 
Closing funds at 31 December  1,974,512  4,603,287  1,592,624  8,170,423  14,819,734  22,990,157 

                  
 

Fund balances at 31 December are represented by:            

Tangible fixed assets -  1,850,417  -  1,850,417  13,015,350  14,865,767  

Financial assets -  3  -  3  -  3  

Debtors -  3,980,156  -  3,980,156  153,316  4,133,472  

Cash at bank and in hand 7,353,539  5,505,302  1,592,624  14,451,465  1,651,068  16,102,533  

Liabilities (5,379,027)  (6,732,591)   -  (12,111,618)   -  (12,111,618)  

Total net assets 1,974,512  4,603,287  1,592,624  8,170,423  14,819,734  22,990,157  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 
 
20. Movement of funds‐ continued 

 

       
Restricted 
operating 

funds 
 

Unrestricted 
operating 

funds 
 

Designated 
operating 

funds 
 

Total 
operating 

funds  
 

Restricted 
fixed asset 

funds 
 

Total 2020 
  

Prior Year € € € € € €   
  

 
  

      
 

            

Opening funds at 1 January  414,064  4,058,778  1,446,247  5,919,089  15,565,956  21,485,045 
Income 53,538,693  5,641,014  300,886  59,480,593  1,151,621  60,632,214 
Expenditure (52,873,307)  (5,689,194)  (167,979)  (58,730,480)  (2,199,411)  (60,929,891) 
Transfers from designated funds 64,366  24,378  (102,682)  (13,938)  13,938  - 
Transfers to fixed asset funds (184,054)  -    -  (184,054)  184,054  - 
Closing funds at 31 December  959,762  4,034,976  1,476,472  6,471,210  14,716,158  21,187,368 
            

 
Fund balances at 31 December are represented by:            

Tangible fixed assets -  1,676,262  -  1,676,262  13,830,226  15,506,488  

Financial assets -  3  -  3  -  3  

Debtors -  4,042,673  -  4,042,673  493,931  4,536,604  

Cash at bank and in hand 4,349,690  4,370,680  1,476,472  10,196,842  392,001  10,588,843  

Liabilities (3,389,928)  (6,054,642)  -   (9,444,570)  -  (9,444,570)  

Total net assets 959,762  4,034,976  1,476,472  6,471,210  14,716,158  21,187,368  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

21. Income from State Sources 
 
Irish Wheelchair Association received income in 2021 from the following State sources: 
Source of Income Description Term €  
     
HSE North West Section 39 Services Annual 4,108,355  
HSE West Section 39 Services Annual 4,589,653  
HSE Mid West Section 39 Services Annual 3,731,979  
HSE South Section 39 Services Annual 4,253,813  
HSE South East Section 39 Services Annual 5,656,484  
HSE Dublin South East Section 39 Services Annual 1,857,401  
HSE Dublin South West Section 39 Services Annual 2,433,696  
HSE Midlands North East Section 39 Services Annual 5,611,849  
HSE Dublin North Section 39 Services Annual 18,436,141  
Total HSE Income 50,679,371  
   
For HSE Section 39 services, the information required under DPER Circular 13/2014 is provided in the Annual 
Financial Monitoring Return 

  

     
Source of Income Description Term Income Deferred 

amount 
   € € 
Dept of Social Protection CE Scheme Laois Offaly 3- year rolling 362,069            40,533 
Dept of Social Protection CE Scheme Cork 3- year rolling 315,746            35,431 
Dept of Social Protection CE Scheme Kerry 3- year rolling 249,789            36,863 
Dept of Social Protection CE Scheme Dublin 3- year rolling 450,383            63,685 
Dept Of Social Protection CE Scheme Mayo Galway 3- year rolling 277,650            57,633 
Dept Of Social Protection CE Scheme Sligo Donegal 3- year rolling 467,535          126,715 
Dept Of Social Protection CE Scheme Kilkenny 3- year rolling 194,135            46,739 
Dept Of Social Protection CE Scheme Kildare 3- year rolling 671,066          112,137 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

21. Income from State Sources 
 
Source of Income Description Term Income Deferred 

amount 
   € € 
Dept of Social Protection CE Scheme Limerick, Clare, North Tipperary 3- year rolling 520,693            92,163 
Dept of Social Protection CE Scheme Wicklow 3- year rolling 154,756            30,077 
Dept of Social Protection CE Scheme Waterford, Wexford, South Tipperary 3- year rolling 650,766            98,565 
Dept Of Social Protection  CE Scheme Midlands 3- year rolling 499,790          103,530 
Dept of Social Protection Employment Support Scheme Annual 87,441               - 
Dept Of Social Protection Pobal Community Services Programme: Ability Programme 3-Year  

2018-2021 
160,635      - 

Dept Of Social Protection Dormant Accounts Programme – Measures to Support the 
Employment of People with Disabilities 

16 Month  
2021-2022 

47,640           72,360 

Dept of Rural and Community 
Development 

Pobal Community Services Programme: Gilbert Centre 3-Year 
2018-2021 

29,358            1,326 

Dept of Health National Lottery Funds Once- Off 122,515                      - 
Dept Of Health HSE Capital and Community Grants Once- Off 1,137,666               - 
Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Targeted Equipment (SITE) Grant  Once- Off 12,000               - 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Core Funding Annual 285,000               - 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Special Events Once- Off 3,545              5,255 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Innovation Grant Once- Off 69,360             25,640 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Community & Disability Sport Inclusion Fund Once- Off 33,383             11,617 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – IT Accessibility Once- Off               -               5,000 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Indoor Sport Fund Once- Off               -             52,000 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

21. Income from State Sources  
 
Source of Income Description Term Income Deferred 

amount 
   € € 
Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Paralympics Ireland Impact Funding Once- Off               -               6,730 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Paralympics Ireland Seed Funding Once- Off 1,000               1,000 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Special Projects and Programmes Once- Off               -             18,000 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – (DAF) General Sports Inclusion Once- Off               -             45,000 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – (DAF) SIDP Capital Once- Off 8,172             18,828 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – (DAF) Volunteer Supports Once- Off 5,332             24,668 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – (DAF) Youth Leadership Once- Off 2,748             14,752 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – Women in Sport Once- Off 46,995             47,016 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland Supplementary Support Scheme Once- Off               -             30,000 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland Supplementary Support Scheme 2021 Once- Off 26,000               - 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – (DAF) Aspire Grant 2020 Once- Off 3,780               - 

Dept of Transport, Tourism & 
Sport 

Sport Ireland – (DAF) Dormant Accounts Once- Off 4,267               - 

Dept of Environment Capital Assistance Scheme - Kilkenny Once- Off 209,470               - 
Dept of Rural and Community 
Development 

CLÁR Programme Once- Off 176,633               - 

 
The States investment is protected and will not be used as security for any other activity without prior consultation with funder.  
IWA is compliant with Circular 44/2006 “Tax Clearance Procedures Grants, Subsidies and Similar Type Payments”. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

22. Pensions 
 

The company continues to operate two occupational pension schemes, being a defined contribution 
pension scheme and a personal retirement savings account (PRSA) scheme. All IWA staff are eligible to 
join one of these schemes. The assets of the pension schemes are held separately from those of the 
company in independently administered funds. The cost of employer pension contributions in 2021 was 
€461,502 (2020: €369,700).   

  

23. Related Party Transactions 
 
There were no related party transactions other than transactions between the company and its subsidiary, 
Ability Consultancy Training Limited, as referred to in Note 19 above. There were no transactions with 
directors other than as outlined in Notes 9 and 12(b) above.  

 

24. Financial Instruments 
The analysis of the carrying amounts of the financial instruments of the charity required under Section 
11 of FRS 102 is as follows: 

 
 

     2021  2020 
     €  € 

Financial Assets at amortised cost     
Grant and service income receivable  4,052,623  4,340,064 
Cash and cash equivalents   16,102,533  10,588,843 

 
 

     2021  2020 
     €  € 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost     
Creditors and accruals   5,775,188  5,172,890         

 

25. Financial Commitments 
 
Capital Commitments 
At 31 December 2021, the company had entered into contracts for the construction or purchase of 
properties and buses amounting to €1,004,000 (2020: €602,000). 
 
Operating lease rentals 
Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 

 €  € 
    

Due within one year 736,315  651,143 
Due between two and five years 1,141,393  794,221 
Due after five years -  - 

 1,877,708  1,445,364 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‐continued 

26. Contingent Liabilities 
 
Property charges: In the event that the company should cease to use certain properties for which 
grants were received, these grants could become repayable, in part or in whole up to an amount of 
€6,067,829 (2020: €6,576,687) at 31 December 2021. In addition, there are a number of legal charges 
in place over the related properties as a result of the grants received. The carrying amount of these 
properties in the financial statements is €9,598,315 (2020: €10,294,300) at 31 December 2021. 

27. Subsequent Events 
 

In the period since year end Ukraine has been invaded by Russia with far-reaching global ramifications. 
Irish Wheelchair Association is monitoring events in Ukraine and considering any potential impact 
arising from same on operations, service delivery and finances. The impact of developments after the 
balance sheet date is not considered to impact carrying value of assets and liabilities at the balance 
sheet date. While there is likely to be a future financial impact from an economic downturn, inflation, 
and rising fuel costs this has not yet been quantified. 
 

28. Approval of Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements were approved by the directors on 07 April 2022.  
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The following pages do not form part of the statutory financial statements and are not subject of the 
independent auditor’s report. 
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Appendix 1: Additional Disclosure Requirements for Pobal Community Services Programme: Gilbert 
Centre for year ended 31 December 2021 

Source of Income 
Department of Rural and Community Development 
 
Grant Programme 
Pobal Community Services Programme: Gilbert Centre 
 
Annual restricted Pobal funding received to support payroll costs in Gilbert Centre. The remainder of the 
costs were funded through Irish Wheelchair Association generated income.  
 
 

Community Services Programme: Gilbert Centre  
Supported Income and Expenditure Statement 

 
   2021 
   € 
Traded income 
 

  56,927 

Pobal CSP grant funding 
 

 
 

 29,358 

Other non-traded income 
 

  98,665 

Total Income   184,950 
 

Pobal CSP salaries 
 

  34,808 

Other operational expenditure 
 

  167,073 

Total Expenditure   201,881 
 

Net Deficit 
 

  (16,931) 
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